
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 
 

 

20 January 2023 
 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee on 
Monday, 30th January, 2023 at 6.30 pm 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Chairman: Councillor Peter Watson 
Vice Chairman: Councillor George Cornah 
Councillors: Tom Ashton, Richard Austin BEM, David Brown, Katie Chalmers, 

Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Martin Howard, Frank Pickett, 
Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Thursday 26th January  
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   MONITORING OFFICER UPDATE  
 

 (A verbal update from John Medler, Monitoring Officer) 
 
 

2   Q2 RISK REPORT 2022/23 (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

 (A report by Suzanne Rolfe, Insight & Transformation Manager)  
 

3   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 11 - 34) 
 

 (A report by Matthew Waller, Internal Audit Manager)  
 

4   AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 35 - 50) 
 

 (A report by Mark Surridge, Director – Public Services, Mazars)  
 

5   TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT/ MRP & ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY (Pages 51 - 96) 
 

 (A report by Sean Howsam, Interim Treasury Manager)  
 
 

6   BUDGET OVERVIEW 2023/24 AND DRAFT BUDGET (Pages 97 - 132) 
 

 (A report by Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development ), 
& S151)  
 
 

7   WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 133 - 134) 
 

 (For Members to consider the Committee’s work programme.) 
 

 
 
Notes: 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Pippa Rose, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, 01205 314228    email: 
pippa.rose@boston.gov.uk  
 



 

 

Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 
 

Emergency Procedures 
In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building 

via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

5 December 2022 

Present: Councillor Peter Watson (Chairman),   (Vice-Chairman), Councillors 
Richard Austin BEM, Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Stephen Woodliffe and 
Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Officers –  
Interim Treasury Manager, Financial Services, Assistant Director - Finance (Deputy 
S151 Officer) and Head of Procurement and Contracts 
 
61   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the last meeting were agreed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
62   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies of Absence were received from Councillors; Tom Ashton, George Cornah, 
Paul Goodale and Frank Pickett. 
 
63   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
64   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
65   PROPOSED AMENDMENTS OF THE COUNCIL'S CONTRACT 

PROCEDURE RULES AND FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 
 

The Head of Procurement and Contracts presented a report which contained a revised 
draft set of Contract Procedure Rules with appropriate delegations that provided 
additional clarity around the procedures to be followed and reflected the Council’s 
management structure.  
 
In accordance with section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 every local authority 
must adopt standing orders with respect to the making by them or on their behalf of 
contracts for the supply of goods or materials or for the execution of works.  
 
The Council’s current Contract Procedure Rules were approved by the Council in May 
2016. The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) form part of the Constitution and 
govern the way in which the Council procures goods, services, and works. The rules 
were reviewed in May 2019, but procurement best practice had developed significantly 
since that time along with updated legislation.  
 
In response to Members questions the Head of Procurement and Contacts, along with 
the Assistant Director – Finance  and the Finance Portfolio Holder confirmed that;  

• There is a point’s based system in place, so contacts cannot be awarded purely 
because the company is local.  

Page 1

Agenda Item A



Audit & Governance Committee 
5 December 2022 
 

• As the Christmas tree cost less that £25,000 it did not need to go out to tender.  

• An exemption was sought out for the Christmas tree decision as there was only 
one company that could carry out the work required.  

• If a contract is ended early there is not usually a ‘buy out’ clause.  
 
RESOLVED:  
That the Committee: 

1. Recommends to Council the revised Contract Procedure Rules at Appendix 
1 to this report to be adopted, without amendments, as the Contract 
Procedure Rules (CPR)  

2. Agrees that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make the necessary 
changes to update the Council’s Constitution accordingly, including 
delegation to amend where inconsistencies arise, noting that the CPR will 
take primacy.  

Mr Alan Pickering agreed with the decision 
 
66   TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 

 
The Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPSL presented a report which 
contained the Mid Term Report on the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy. The report referred to a key element of the 
Council’s Governance Framework and therefore represented an important contribution 
to the evidence trail in support of the Annual Governance Statement 2022/23.  
 
The report covered the following areas;  

• An economic update for the first half of the 2022/23 financial year 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy; 

• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 
prudential indicators  

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2022/23  

• A review of the Council’s Borrowing Strategy 2022/23  

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2022/23 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential indicators for 2022/23.  
 
Following comments from Members the Portfolio Holder informed the Committee that he 
be wary of borrowing any more money as it was possible money would need to be used 
out of the reserves in the current financial year.  
 
RESOLVED:  
That the Committee approve the contents of the report attached at Appendix A. 
 
67   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, 
the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 7A of Schedule 12A of the Order. 
 

Page 2



Audit & Governance Committee 
5 December 2022 

 

68   WORK PROGRAMME 
 

No changes were made to the Work Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.15 pm 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 30TH JANUARY 2023 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE ON RISK MANAGEMENT 

KEY DECISION: NO 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR NOBLE, PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR FINANCE 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

JOHN MEDLER, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – GOVERNANCE  

SUZANNE ROLFE, GROUP MANAGER - INSIGHTS & TRANSFORMATION 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This report provides an overview of risk management in the authority. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Committee considers and notes the report. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of the 
Council’s risk management arrangements. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

N/A 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



1. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

1.1 The Audit & Governance Committee is responsible for monitoring the effective 

development and operation of risk management in the Council according to its terms of 

reference. 

1.2 A shared approach to risk management has been agreed across the Partnership with 

common formatting but not content. A draft Risk Management Framework for the 

Partnership is currently in development and will come to Committee in March 2023 for 

discussion and review. 

1.3 Individual strategic and operational risk registers are in place for each of the Councils to 

reflect individual circumstances, locality and reporting. Strategic risks are high level, relating 

to corporate priorities. Operational risks are service specific. 

1.4 In addition, a strategic risk register for the Partnership is under development for those risks 

which are common to all three Councils and where there is a synergy across all. 

1.5 A quarterly risk clinic is held with Assistant Directors to sit alongside the established 

performance clinic. 

 
2. STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 
 
2.1 The strategic risk register has been reviewed against Boston’s Corporate Strategy: 

• Priority 1 – People Focused (Boston – Live, Work and Visit) 

• Priority 2 - Future Prosperity, Regeneration and Inclusive Growth 

• Priority 3 - Environmental Awareness and Accountability 

• Priority 4 - Delivering high quality services and maximising use of technology to support 

residents 

2.2 The strategic risk register has been reviewed and updated at the quarterly risk clinic and by 

Senior Leadership Team. No significant changes have been made since the last quarterly 

report. 

2.3 Summary of strategic risks (full details in Appendix A) 

Risk Risk score 

Economic hardship High (12) 

Health Medium (9) 

Local economy Medium (9) 

Sustainability Medium (6) 

Environmental Crime Medium (9) 

Budget High (15) 

Service delivery Medium (9) 

Civil contingency risks Medium (8) 

Infrastructure risks Medium (8) 

 
  

Page 6



3. CONCLUSION 

3.1 The risk management arrangements are designed to provide the Council with a clearer and 
fuller understanding of the key risks facing the organisation and how these are being 
managed. They enable the Council to pro-actively manage its risks taking into account the 
agreed risk appetite level. 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Strategic Risk Register has been reviewed and updated to reflect the strategic risks faced by 

the organisation. Aligning the format and reporting process for risks across the three sovereign 

councils will ensure that risk management continues to be efficient and effective across the 

Partnership. The additional risk register for Partnership risks will ensure that these are monitored 

and managed appropriately where there is synergy across the three councils. 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

We are currently identifying strategic risks which are common across the Partnership. This will 

streamline the monitoring and management of shared partnership-wide risks where there is 

synergy across all. 

We are also working on identifying risks to the Partnership itself, which will be monitored and 

reported in addition to the Council-specific and partnership-wide registers. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

Effective risk management arrangements support all of the corporate priorities 

STAFFING 

None 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

None 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Whole report 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

No consultation undertaken 

REPUTATION 

Page 7



None 

CONTRACTS 

None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

ACRONYMS 

None 

 

APPENDICES 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Q2 strategic risks 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

This report has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe, Group Manager – Insights & Transformation 

suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: John Medler, Assistant Director – Governance  

John.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk   

Approved for publication: Councillor Noble, portfolio holder for Finance 

 

 

Page 8

mailto:suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk
mailto:John.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk


Appendix A BBC Q2 Strategic Risks

Likelihood Impact Overall risk

1 Economic hardship

A
D

: W
el

lb
ei

n
g 

&
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
Le

ad
er

sh
ip

The risk of economic hardship to local 

people

Increase in wholesale energy costs;

Supply chain issues;

Continuing impact of Covid-19;

High rents and low wages;

Housing supply, affordable housing and 

standards issues;

Inflation;

Fuel shortages;

Ukraine conflict

Economic hardship;

Fuel poverty;

Poor housing;

Homelessness;

Isolation and lack of opportunities.

Taking action to improve housing 

standards;

Working with local landlords;

Support to local people on budgeting, 

training and jobs;

Political pressure on the government to 

address fuel bills nationally;

Campus for Future Living;

Investment into Leisure/Learning/Well-

being projects.

3 4 High (12)

2 Health

A
D

: W
el

lb
ei

n
g 

&
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
Le

ad
er

sh
ip

The risk of long term health issues on 

local people; the opportunity to work 

with health partners to address these

Long term health issues in the local 

population;

Deprivation;

Local perceptions;

Apathy.

Poor health outcomes;

Increased costs to local health services;

Unsustainable health services.

The opportunity to work with health 

partners to address long term health 

issues and deprivation, to raise 

awareness and promote good health, to 

support the sustainability of local health 

services

3 3 Medium (9)

3 Local economy

A
D

: E
co

n
o

m
ic

 G
ro

w
th

Risk to local businesses, lack of growth, 

lack of inward investment and tourism; 

opportunity to encourage growth and 

stimulate the local economy; good 

community relations

Continuing impact of Covid-19 on 

businesses and the local economy;

Increasing costs, including fuel costs;

Lack of buses, particularly in rural areas, 

and increasing costs of travel

Struggling/failing local businesses;

Stagnating local economy;

Lack of inward investment;

Low skills and aspirations;

Low visitor numbers;

Future sustainability of the Town Centre 

- retail, evening economy, housing, 

heritage, culture, leisure, events, car 

parking;

Community perceptions.

Town Deal and Levelling Up projects;

UK Shared Prosperity;

ACE funding applications;

Vital & Viable programme;

Partnership working for sector support 

(heritage, culture, leisure and visitor 

economy).

3 3 Medium (9)

4 Sustainability

A
D

: R
eg

u
la

to
ry

Risk to the environment and future 

sustainability

Carbon emissions;

Climate challenge;

Need to find the balance between 

sustainability and pay back;

Need to find the balance between 

education and enforcement.

Impact on future sustainability;

Impact on value for money;

Reputational risk of failing to lead by 

example. 

Carbon Reduction Action Plan approved.

Climate Change Strategy approved.

Green Home Grants are in delivery.

2 3 Medium (6)

5
Environmental 

crime

A
D

: N
ei

gh
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

Impact of environmental crime (fly 

tipping and littering) on local people, 

the local area and the reputation of the 

Council

Residents, visitors and businesses failing  

to dispose of litter and waste 

responsibly, using litter bins, the 

Household Waste Recycling Centre or 

waste collection companies.

Increase in fly tipping and littering
Education and enforcement;

Partnership working, including with 

community groups

3 3 Medium (9)

Mitigation: existing control measures in 

place

Risk score

R
e

f

Risk name

R
is

k 

o
w

n
e

r

Description Cause/s Potential impact and consequences

P
age 9



Appendix A BBC Q2 Strategic Risks

Likelihood Impact Overall risk

Mitigation: existing control measures in 

place

Risk score

R
e

f

Risk name

R
is

k 

o
w

n
e

r

Description Cause/s Potential impact and consequences

6 Budget
A

D
: F

in
an

ce Risk around the long term balancing of 

the budget with economic and funding 

uncertainty

Reduction of government funding;

Reduction in income;

Capital expenditure;

Impact of Internal Drainage Board (IDB) 

levy;

Inflation;

Fuel shortages;

Ukraine conflict

Lack of money and lack of certainty 

going forward;

Failure to balance budget in future years

Medium Term Financial Strategy;

Budgetary process;

Sound level of reserves;

Continued close monitoring;

Funding applications.

3 5 High (15)

7 Service delivery

A
D

: C
o

rp
o

ra
te

Risks to service delivery

Capacity, workload and resilience;

Recruitment and retention;

Uncertainty around Local Government 

Reorganisation (LGR);

Compliance failure (audit, health & 

safety, safeguarding, information 

governance and management, legal);

Technical infrastructure failure;

Cyber incident;

Negative press;

Effects of change and how it affects 

both officers and elected Members.

Failure in service delivery;

Impact on local people;

Impact on staff;

Impact on budget;

Reputational damage;

Failure of third party service delivery;

Contract failure.

Staff resources maximised under the 

Partnership;

Working with external partners to 

deliver shared priorities;

HR support on recruitment and 

retention;

Training plans;

Values & behaviours work;

Annual Delivery Plan, Workforce 

Development, policies and procedures.

3 3 Medium (9)

8
Civil contingency 

risks

A
D

: R
eg

u
la

to
ry

Community risks shared across 

Lincolnshire, managed in partnership 

with the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum 

(LRF)

Impact of Covid19;

Influenza type disease;

East coast flooding;

Inland flooding;

Severe weather;

Fuel shortages;

Loss of critical infrastructure;

Animal disease;

Environmental pollution and industrial 

accidents;

Transport accidents;

Business Continuity incident.

Failure in service delivery;

Impact on local people;

Reputational damage;

Detrimental economic impact on 

business.

Community Risk Register monitored by 

the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (LRF);

Work with partners to assess, monitor 

and plan for these risks together.

Exercising of plans and training of staff.

2 4 Medium (8)

9 Infrastructure risks

A
D

: E
co

n
o

m
ic

 G
ro

w
th

Risks to infrastructure - roads, rail, 

waste management, water supply, 

energy, digital connectivity

Lack of  investment, upgrade and 

development into infrastructure, 

broadband/digital connectivity, 

highways/public transport;

Increased demand on infrastructure 

from population growth and rapid 

urbanisation

Impact on health, the economy and 

businesses;

Opportunity to generate employment 

and boost living standards;

Opportunity to encourage inward 

investment.

Sub-regional focus and briefings;

Support with the evolution of ideas and 

solutions;

Scrutiny Committee looking at the 

theme of highways/public transport.

2 4 Medium (8)

P
age 10



Internal Audit
Progress Report

For all your assurance needs

Boston Borough Council
     December 2022

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This report has been prepared solely for the use of Members and Management of Boston Borough Council. Details may be made 
available to specified external organisations, including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not be used or referred to in 
whole or in part without prior consent.  No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is 
not intended for any other purpose.
 
 The matters raised in this report are only those that came to our attention during the course of our work – there may be 
weaknesses in governance, risk management and the system of internal control that we are not aware of because they did not form 
part of our work programme, were excluded from the scope of individual audit engagements or were not bought to our attention.  
The opinion is based solely the work undertaken as part of the agreed internal audit plan.

Contents

Lucy Pledge  -  Head of Internal  Audit
Lucy.Pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Matthew Waller- Audit Manager
Matthew.Waller@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 2Key Messages
Introduction
Summary
Assurances

Page 2Internal Audit work completed
Overview of Assurances
Audit Reports at Draft
Work in Progress

Page 11Appendices
1 Limited / Low Assurance Reports
2 Assurance Definitions
3 Audit Recommendations
4 2022/23 Audit Plan to Date
5 Changes to the Audit Plan

1

Page 9

Page 8

Page 12

mailto:Lucy.Pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Matthew.Waller@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Introduction
 The purpose of this report is to:
 
• Provide details of the audit work during the period July 2022 to November 2022
• Advise on progress with planned work
• Raise any other matters that may be relevant to the Audit Committee role

2

0
SUBSTANTIAL 
ASSURANCE

Key Messages
Progress is being made on the revised plan with seven audits 
currently in progress, two are at draft report stage, one is at 
fieldwork stage and four pieces of work are being prepared 
(Appendix 4 contains the full detail). 

We have completed 31% of the revised plan.  Appendix 5 
shows the detail.

There are currently 12 actions which are overdue, 9 of which 
relate specifically to Boston the remaining 3 relate to the 
partnership overall.

Assurances 
In this period 3 assurance reviews have been completed:-

SELCP
• Flood Management –High
• Good Governance Health – Consultancy

BBC
• Housing Benefit Subsidy 21/22 – Limited assurance

Note: The assurance expressed is at the time of issue of the report but before the full implementation of 
the agreed management action plan.  The definitions for each level are shown in Appendix 2. 

1
HIGH 

ASSURANCE

1
LIMITED 

ASSURANCE

0
LOW 

ASSURANCE

1
CONSULTANCY

Work in progress

SELCP
• Payroll – fieldwork
• ICT Cloud Hosted – Draft Report
• VFM – Preparation
• Key Controls – Revenues TOR agreed
• Risk Management – Scoping
• Assurance mapping – drafting report
• ICT Virus protection and malware - Scoping

Page 13



Introduction
 

3

Assurance Lincolnshire Update
As you’re aware Lucy Pledge will be leaving Assurance Lincolnshire on the 30th March 
2023.  She will be retiring from the role a Head of Audit and Risk Management having 
helped build the Assurance Lincolnshire partnership into the success it is today.    
 
Following a successful recruitment process, we are delighted to confirm that Claire 
Goodenough has been appointed as Head of Audit and Risk Management at the County 
Council – heading up the Assurance Lincolnshire Partnership.  Claire has a good 
background of working within the public sector at a senior level and with the Institute of 
Internal Audit.  Claire joined the team on the 23 January, to enable a detailed handover, 
which will incorporate meeting with our clients over the coming months. 
 
We hope you will all join us in welcoming Claire as she begins her Assurance Lincolnshire 
journey.

Page 14



High Assurance
Fl
oo
d 
M
an
ag
em
en
t

We have provided a High level of assurance that East Lindsey District 
Council and Boston Borough Council’s arrangements to manage flood 
risk are operating effectively and their statutory responsibilities are 
being adequately fulfilled. To ensure a co-ordinated approach to 
managing floods, the Councils continue to pro-actively engage and work 
with other Risk Management Authorities and Lincolnshire County 
Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This collaborative working 
enables an appropriate response to be provided to managing and 
mitigating the flood risks within both Councils’ areas.

There is a clear understanding of the key legislation and the Councils’ 
statutory duties and responsibilities relating to flooding. ELDC and 
BBC’s Category 1 emergency flooding and ‘first responder’ duties under 
the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) are being discharged by Lincolnshire 
County Council / the LRF via formal agreements. 

Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (LRF) emergency response processes 
and protocols are robust, well-practised and responsibilities clear. 

Lincolnshire flood risks are identified on the County’s Community Risk 
Register; which is considered against ELDC / BBC’s own registers.  The 
Strategic risks currently being carried are considered appropriate.

4Page 15



5

Limited Assurance
B
B
C
 H
ou
si
ng
 B
en
ef
it 
Su
bs
id
y 
21
/2
2

We tested HB standing data and HB calculations for the 2021/22 
financial year. Uprating the system parameters for 2021/22 was 
undertaken by the Boston BC benefits team in March 2021. On 1st 
April 2021 the BBC benefits service was transferred to Public Sector 
Partnership Services Ltd, who were responsible for the administration 
of housing benefits during 2021/22.  We have given Limited assurance 
because Module 2 errors were found, which will lead to errors and 
adjustments in the Council’s subsidy claim. This is the same assurance 
level as the 2020/21 HB Subsidy audit for the same reason. 

Whilst we found similar issues last year, they were not identified and 
reported until after the 21/22 parameters had been entered into the 
system, prior to the service being transferred over to PSPS.  Therefore 
we have been informed that rate corrections and process changes 
were not possible until the 22/23 year where they were aligned with 
those for the other Councils for which PSPS carry out the service. In 
addition further work was undertaken to ensure that they were correctly 
input and affected claims rectified.  

The module 2 work verifies that the 2021/22 benefit parameters and 
allowances set by the Government for the calculation of housing benefit 
have been correctly uprated in the Housing Benefit system.  This year 
we found that 4 rates were incorrect compared with 8 rates in 20/21.  

Other work involved testing a sample of benefit cases to provide 
assurance on the accuracy of the HB caseload and to confirm that the 
correct level of subsidy has been claimed. Any errors found would be 
extrapolated across the whole population, which may mean that small 
errors potentially result in significant financial impacts. We were 
required to examine 20 Rent Allowance cases paid in the 2021/22 
financial year and found errors in 4. Of these 4, 2 were due to the 
Module 2 errors mentioned above and another claim was partially due 
to the Module 2 errors, all of these were in respect of the incorrect 
earnings disregard. The other errors are human error and we are 
recommending that they are picked up as part of ongoing training

Further details can be found in Appendix 1.

Page 16



6

Consultancy
G
oo
d 
G
ov
er
na
nc
e 
Ph
as
e 
1

We can confirm that the Council conforms with the Framework – with good 
governance arrangements in place that are up to date and relevant to the 
environment it operates in – Advisory Points have identified areas that will 
enhance the overall governance of the Council.

As part of the evidence gathering work carried out, we engaged with a 
number of senior officers.  The professionalism and knowledge they 
demonstrated while providing information gave us confidence on staff 
awareness of strategic direction and their roles & responsibilities as part of 
the SELCP.

Whilst we have identified improvements that will further strengthen the 
governance arrangements, we are pleased to note that the Sub-Principles 
received an assurance rating no lower than substantial.  The majority of 
issues raised had already been identified by the Council and are being 
resolved.  These include:-
• Complaint process – implementing lessons learned arising from feedback 
from people using or receiving our services, and an internal review.

• Scheme of delegation and financial procedures – to be updated to match 
current structure and financial system

• Improving the Council's control environment – continue to monitor the 
financial Governance arrangements in place 

 
The areas where we are suggesting improvements in the Council's 
governance arrangements are:-

Ethics – Whilst the Council has the appropriate systems and processes in 
place to ensure good governance is maintained; it is more challenging, to 
demonstrate that they are working well and that there is a strong 
commitment.  One key area of the new governance guidance is 
demonstrating the ethical mind set and a commitment to ethical values.  This 
includes how decisions are made and the need for staff to be trained and 
made aware of ethical awareness and behaviours. 

Partnerships – Better accountability and transparency required over 
contract and partnership risks and their assurance arrangements.  The same 
good governance standards should apply to whoever delivers Council 
services.  The SELCP Senior Leadership Team (SLT) should consider how it 
gains assurance on the effective management of key partnerships and 
contracts – including robust and effective challenge over progress and 
delivery.

Transparency Code – publication of fraud figures will ensure full 
compliance with the Code.

Page 17



Internal Audit Work
 

7

Audit Reports at Draft Stage
• ICT Cloud Hosted – being reviewed

Work in Progress
SELCP
• Payroll – fieldwork
• VFM – Preparation, awaiting information before can progress
• Key Controls – Revenues TOR agreed, meeting booked to discuss fieldwork
• Risk Management – Scoping meeting being booked in
• ICT Virus protection and malware – Meeting being booked in to discuss scope

Changes to the Audit Plan
There have been no changes made to the plan so far.

Other Significant work
Combined Assurance
The assurance mapping meetings have now been completed and the results are 
currently being collated and used to populate the draft report for Management to 
complete.

Audit Recommendations
Progress in implementing the recommendations made to date has been obtained from 
the responsible officers and recommendations have been closed off where advised.  
Overall for Boston and the Partnership there are 33 recommendations to be 
implemented of which 12 are overdue. Of these, 11 specifically relate to Boston. with 9 
of these being overdue.  The overdue recommendations include:-

• SELCP Contract Management – 3 Medium due by 31 October 2022
• BBC Complaints – 4 Medium due by 30 September 2022
• BBC Key Controls – 1 High and 2 medium due by 31 October and 1 medium by 31 
August

• BBC Treasury Management – 1 Medium due by 31 October 2022

A full recommendation update is shown at Appendix 2.Page 18



Benchmarking
Internal Audit's performance is measured against a range of indicators.  
The statistics below show our performance on key indicators year to 

date. 

Performance on Key Indicators as at       
30th November 2022

8

  
Performance Indicator

 
Year-end 
Target

 
Actual at
30th 

November 
2022

Percentage of plan completed  100%  31%

Percentage of recommendations 
agreed 100%  100%

Percentage of agreed actions 
implemented 

100% or 
escalated 

 
0%

Draft report issued within 10 days 
of fieldwork completion 100% 50%

Final report issued within 5 days 
of management response 100% 100%

Draft report issued within two 
months of fieldwork commencing 80% 0%*

The plan was not agreed and scheduled until June so work spread over 3 quarters.

*There have been 2 reports issued both of which were carried forward from 2021/22.

Page 19



Guidance on Audit Committees in Local Authorities and 
Police

The guidance document to support the position statement is was published in October 
2022 – A copy is available from the Head of Internal Audit at Lincolnshire County Council 
on request.

The guidance covers the following areas:-
• The Purpose of Audit Committees
• The core functions of an Audit Committee
• Possible Wider Functions of an Audit Committee
• Independence and Accountability
• Membership and Effectiveness of the Audit Committee

It also has suggested Terms of Reference, Knowledge and Skills framework, Self 
Assessment checklist and Evaluating the impact and effectiveness of the Audit 
Committee.

Croydon Council Governance Failing
Fairfield Hall is an arts, entertainment and conference centre situated in Croydon. 
Refurbishment of this building was agreed by Croydon Council and work was undertaken 
between June 2016 and September 2019. It was delivered late and cost substantially 
more than the original £30m budget agreed by cabinet. Originally a Value for Money 
review, this became a Report in the Public Interest by their Internal Auditors Grant 
Thornton which highlighted failings of financial control and governance of this project. 

The report found that the ‘governance gaps’ at the time ‘prevented scrutiny and challenge 
that may have allowed corrective action to have been taken.’ The report found that the 
statutory officers and chief officers throughout the time of the refurbishment, including the 
then chief executive, the two Section 151 officers and the then monitoring officer, failed to 
fulfil their statutory duties. All have since left the council. An action plan will be put in place 
to address the recommendations arising from this report.

This has led the Council putting in place new measures to address the findings. The 
Council has overhauled and strengthened its financial, legal, decision-making and other 
governance processes, and through its Croydon Renewal Plan is creating a new culture of 
good decision-making, transparency, accountability and value for money.

Other matters of interest
A summary of matters that will be of particular interest to Audit 
committee members 

9

 

Page 20



Other matters of interest
A summary of matters that will be of particular interest to Audit 
committee members 

10

 
It also led the council to undertake an external independent review of its companies and 
company structures. Following that review, the council’s intention is to wind down its 
development company Brick by Brick once it has completed its outstanding building work. 

The Fairfield Halls refurbishment contracts were taken back under direct Council control. 
The full report can be seen here:
Report in the Public Interest Fairfield Halls | Croydon Council

Page 21

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/council-and-elections/budgets-and-spending/reports-and-reviews/report-public-interest-fairfield-halls


11

Appendix 1 Audits with Limited Assurance

BBC Housing Benefit Subsidy Testing 21/22 – November 2022

Background and Context

We have carried out annual testing on Housing Benefit (HB) subsidy on behalf of, and in 
conjunction with, the External Auditor Mazars.

The first part of the work is to verify that the figures set by the Government for the calculation 
of benefit have been correctly uprated in the Academy Benefits system – this is known as 
Module 2 testing.

The second part is to test a sample of benefit cases to provide assurance on the accuracy of 
the HB caseload and to confirm that the correct level of subsidy has been claimed by the 
Authority.

The work is carried out by Internal Audit to ensure an independent test of cases and subsidy. 
Any errors found during testing may lead to further checking of similar cases. This is carried 
out by the Benefits team and the External Auditor.

The result of errors found during testing can affect the amount of subsidy claimed by the 
Authority. A type of error that affects a large population of the claims could cause a significant 
overpayment of benefits, which would mean that subsidy would have to be repaid. Similarly, 
an underpayment of benefits could lead to an increase in subsidy payments.

Scope

Our work involved verifying the accuracy of cases determined by HB staff during 2021/22, to 
meet the following objectives:-

 All cases are actioned correctly

 Cases are compliant with legislation and regulations for administering Housing Benefits

 The correct subsidy, based on benefit paid out, has been claimed by the Authority

Risk
Recommendations

High Medium
 

Subsidy claimed is incorrect
1 1

Page 22



12

Executive Summary
This work tested HB standing data and HB calculations for the 2021/22 financial year. 
Uprating the system parameters for 2021/22 was undertaken by the Boston BC benefits team 
in March 2021. On 1st April 2021 the BBC benefits service was transferred to Public Sector 
Partnership Services Ltd, who were responsible for the administration of housing benefits 
during 2021/22.

Our opinion is Limited assurance because Module 2 errors were found, which will lead to 
errors and adjustments in the Council’s subsidy claim. This is the same assurance level as 
the 2020/21 HB Subsidy audit for the same reason.

Module 2
This work is to verify that the 2021/22 benefit parameters and allowances set by the 
Government for the calculation of housing benefit have been correctly uprated in the Housing 
Benefit system.
This year we found that 4 rates were incorrect compared with 8 rates in 20/21 and all were 
different to those found in 20/21:-

• Table 1 – Polygamous marriages additional spouse. HB2030 shows as 43.00 rather 
than 42.70

• Table 1 – Enhanced Disability Premium Couple rate. HB2030 shows as 26.67 rather 
than 24.60

• Table 1 & Table 2 – Enhanced Disability Premium Disabled Child rate. HB2030 shows 
as 26.60 rather than 26.67

• Table 1 & Table 2 – Disregards Additional earnings disregard. HB2500 shows as 
17.60 rather than 17.10

The Additional earnings disregard parameter is potentially the most common used parameter 
from the four errors found.  This represents the highest risk and impact in our opinion as  it 
could have been used in a number of cases during 21/22.  Further testing lead by Mazars 
and the HB section will identify the actual impact on the Subsidy Claim. 

Whilst we found similar issues last year, they were not identified and reported until after the 
21/22 parameters had been entered into the system, prior to the service being transferred 
over to PSPS.  Therefore we have been informed that rate corrections and process changes 
were not possible until the 22/23 year where they were aligned with those for the other 
Councils for which PSPS carry out the service. In addition further work was undertaken to 
ensure that they were correctly input and affected claims rectified.  

Initial Testing
This work involves testing a sample of benefit cases to provide assurance on the accuracy of 
the HB caseload and to confirm that the correct level of subsidy has been claimed. Any errors 
found would be extrapolated across the whole population, which may mean that small errors 
potentially result in significant financial impacts. 

Page 23



13

Executive Summary (cont’d)

We were required to examine 20 Rent Allowance cases paid in the 2021/22 financial year 
and found errors in 4;
• Error 1 – Incorrect earnings disregard used. Overpayment of £0.19.  
• Error 2 – Incorrect earnings disregard used. Overpayment of £10.50.
• Error 3 – Incorrect Local Housing Allowance rate used and Overpayment incorrectly 
classified as Eligible when it was LA error. Underpayment of £83.82.

• Error 4 – Incorrect rent and incorrect earnings disregard used. Overpayment of 
£443.99.

Of these 4, 2 were due to the Module 2 errors mentioned above and another claim was 
partially due to the Module 2 errors, all of these were in respect of the incorrect earnings 
disregard. The other errors are human error and we are recommending that they are 
picked up as part of ongoing training.

Errors identified result in additional testing of similar cases, known as 40+ Testing due to 
the extra case size tested. The External Auditor and Housing Benefit Service complete 
this testing and use the results to estimate the size and value of the error applicable to the 
Council.   

We were not required to examine any Non HRA Rent Rebate cases from 21/22 as PSPS 
decided to check all of these following the errors found last time.

Management Response
As this report recognises, parameters leading to the issues identified through audit of the 
2021/22 subsidy year were entered into the system prior to the Benefits service transfer 
to PSPS in April 2021.  The lag in subsidy audit for a financial year does mean therefore 
that this is being picked up now, and as a result the issues arising in respect of 2020/21 
audit re-occur in the 2021/22 audit.

The findings in this report were therefore anticipated, and the limited assurance rating of 
no surprise.  However, following transfer to PSPS, a significant amount of work has been 
done to address these issues, with corrections made to parameters.  These will reflect 
from the 2022/23 subsidy audit.

An observation has also been made through the current audit in relation to missing 
documentation, and ultimately it will be a decision for the DWP to make in terms of impact 
on the subsidy claim.

We will work closely with external auditors in terms of completion of the 2021/22 audit 
process. Due to the historic issues and systems, loss of HB Subsidy remains a risk for 
Boston.  We will continue to work and take action to improve the future position and 
reduce that risk.  

Sharon Hammond
Head of Revenues and Benefits Page 24



Appendix 2 Assurance Definitions

14

High
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a high level 
of confidence on service delivery arrangements, management of 
risks, and the operation of controls and / or performance.  
 
The risk of the activity not achieving its objectives or outcomes is low.  
Controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and are 
operating effectively.

Substantial
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a 
substantial level of confidence (assurance) on service delivery 
arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls and / 
or performance.
 
There are some improvements needed in the application of controls 
to manage risks. However, the controls have been evaluated as 
adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently so that the risk of the 
activity not achieving its objectives is medium to low.  

Limited  Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a a limited 
level of confidence on service delivery arrangements, management 
of risks, and operation of controls and / or performance.

The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to be 
operating or are inadequate. Therefore, the controls evaluated are 
unlikely to give a reasonable level of confidence (assurance) that the 
risks are being managed effectively.  It is unlikely that the activity will 
achieve its objectives.
 

Low
Our critical review or assessment on the activity identified significant 
concerns on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, 
and operation of controls and / or performance.
 
There are either gaps in the control framework managing the key 
risks or the controls have been evaluated as not adequate, 
appropriate or are not being effectively operated. Therefore the risk 
of the activity not achieving its objectives is high.
 

Page 25



15

Appendix 3 Audit Recommendations
Summary of outstanding Agreed Actions at 30 November 2022

Activity Issue 
Date

Assurance Total 
Agreed 
Actions 
(AAs)

AAs 
Imp

Priority of Overdue 
Agreed Actions

AAs
Not Due

 

High Medium
SELCP - Carbon 
Reduction 
2021/22

May 22 Substantial 9 5 0 0 4

SELCP – 
Contract 
Management 
2021/22

Jul-22 Substantial 11 0 0 3 8

SELCP – Patch 
Management 
2021/22

Apr 22 Substantial 9 8 0 0 1

SELCP – Flood 
Management

Aug-22 High 2 0 0 0 2

BBC Complaints May 19 Substantial 10 6 0 4 0

BBC Values & 
Behaviours

Feb 20 Consultancy 2 1 0 0 1

BBC Treasury 
Management

Feb 20 Substantial 2 1 0 1 0

BBC 
Governance

May 21 Substantial 3 1 0 0 2

BBC IT Security 
Follow Up

May 22 Substantial 3 2 0 0 1

BBC Key 
Controls

Jun 22 Substantial 7 2 1 3 1

BBC Housing 
Benefit subsidy

Nov 22 Limited 1 0 0 0 1

Total 59 26 1 11 21

Page 26



16

Appendix 3 Audit Recommendations

Audit Priority Agreed Action Owner Original 
Due Date

Current 
Due Date

Comments

SELCP – 
Contract 
Managem
ent

Medium Develop a 
Contract 
Management 
Procedure 
document which 
details guidance 
on all aspects of 
contract 
management.

Procurement 
Manager / 
Scrutiny 
Officer

31/10/22 31/10/22 None

SELCP – 
Contract 
Managem
ent

Medium Training on 
Contract 
Management, 
ProContract and 
CPPRs will be 
developed and 
rolled out to all 
officers involved 
in contract 
management 
activity

Procurement 
Manager / 
Scrutiny 
Officer

31/10/22 31/10/22 None

SELCP – 
Contract 
Managem
ent

Medium A review of the 
Contract 
Management 
module within 
ProContract will 
be undertaken in 
conjunction with 
key Contract 
Managers to 
assess its 
suitability

Procurement 
Manager / 
Scrutiny 
Officer

31/10/22 31/10/22 None

Details of overdue actions for all audit at 30 November 2022

Page 27



17

Appendix 3 Audit Recommendations

Audit Priority Agreed Action Owner Original 
Due Date

Current 
Due Date

Comments

BBC 
Complaints

Medium Will consider if 
this requirement 
is still relevant as 
part of the refresh 
of the policy

Business 
Transformation 
& Support 
Manager

31/03/20 31/03/20 The 
complaints 
policy will 
be reviewed 
as part of 
the 
assimilation 
of the 
S&ELCP 
resulting in 
ideally a 
single or 
coordinated 
approach 
across all 
three 
Councils. 

BBC 
Complaints

Medium Will consider 
removing the 
service standard 
as part of the 
refresh of the 
policy

Business 
Transformation 
& Support 
Manager

31/03/20 30/09/22 As above

BBC 
Complaints

Medium The requirement 
for investigation 
documents will be 
considered as 
part of the refresh 
of the policy.

Business 
Transformation 
& Support 
Manager

31/03/20 30/09/22 As above

BBC 
Complaints

Medium Will consider 
whether or not an 
annual report 
should be part of 
the refreshed 
policy.

Business 
Transformation 
& Support 
Manager

31/03/20 30/09/22 As above

Page 28



18

Appendix 3 Audit Recommendations

Audit Priority Agreed Action Owner Original 
Due Date

Current 
Due Date

Comments

BBC Treasury 
Management

Medium The TMP’s are 
being updated 
using a 
template 
provided by Link 
and will include 
a new TMP for 
Non Treasury 
Instruments.

PSPS 
Deputy Chief 
Finance 
Officer

31/03/20 31/10/22 31 Aug 22 - 
Due to the 
departure of 
the last two 
people 
responsible 
for this

BBC Key 
Controls

High Liaison with ICT 
to ascertain the 
status of BBC’s 
card handling 
processes and 
ensure the 
necessary 
actions are 
undertaken to 
ensure 
compliance with 
the 
requirements of 
PCIDSS.

PSPS 
Deputy Chief 
Finance 
Officer

30/06/22 31/10/22 31 Aug 22 - A 
meeting will 
be held with 
the 
appropriate 
officer(s) in 
ICT by 9th 
September to 
progress this 
action.

BBC Key 
Controls

Medium A monthly 
review of the 
Suspense 
account will be 
done.

Supervisor 
Credit Control 
and Housing 
Benefit 
Overpayments

31/08/22 31/10/22 31 Aug - This 
slipped due to 
resourcing 
(absent 
posts). 

BBC Key 
Controls

Medium Once we 
transition to U4 
at the end of 
July 2022, we 
will follow the 
EL & SH 
process, 
whereby a 
monthly debtors 
review takes 
place. 

Supervisor 
Credit Control 
and Housing 
Benefit 
Overpayments

31/08/22 31/08/22 None

Page 29



19

Appendix 3 Audit Recommendations

Audit Priority Agreed Action Owner Original 
Due 
Date

Current 
Due Date

Comments

BBC Key 
Controls

Medium The status of the 
Business rates, 
Council Tax, 
Housing Benefit 
Overpayments & 
Council Tax Holding 
account suspense 
accounts will be 
determined with 
Revenues and 
Benefits, and the 
relevant action 
undertaken to 
ensure these are up 
to date.

PSPS 
Deputy 
Chief 
Finance 
Officer

30/06/22 31/10/22 31 Aug 22 - A 
meeting will be 
held with the 
appropriate 
officer(s) by 9th 
September to 
understand the 
processes 
currently 
undertaken. The 
relevant actions 
will then be 
documented from 
this meeting in 
terms of who, 
how and when 
they will be 
completed going 
forward.

Page 30



Appendix 4 2022/23 Audit Plan Progress

20

Audit Scope of Work Start 
Planned 
date

Start 
Actua
l date

End 
Actua
l date

Status/ 
Rating

SELCP Flood 
Management 
21/22 

Adequate arrangements to 
prevent and respond to 
flooding are in place. 

Q4 Feb 
22

Aug 
22

High 
Assurance

BBC Housing 
Benefit Subsidy 
21/22

To complete the review of 
the Housing Benefit 
Subsidy Claim.

Q1-2 May 
22

Sept 
22

Limited 
Assurance

SELCP Value for 
Money

To provide assurance that 
the Council takes all 
reasonable steps to 
achieve Value for Money in 
the delivery of its services.

Q2 Postpone 

SELCP Payroll Full system review of new 
payroll system to provide 
assurance that the system 
is set up, operating 
effectively and appropriate 
controls are in place 
throughout the processes. 

Q2 Sept 
22

Fieldwork in 
progress

SELCP Towns 
Fund

To continue with our 
corporate governance work 
by providing assurance and 
support through 
benchmarking and testing 
the Council against CIPFA 
Good Governance 
standards and Framework
. 

Q2  Move to 
2023/24 
plan, Q1. 

Page 31



14

Audit Scope of Work Start 
Planned 
date

Start 
Actual 
date

End 
Actual 
date

Status/ 
Rating

SELCP Cloud 
Hosted Services

To review recent instances 
of cloud/hosted services to 
establish the due diligence 
undertaken in arriving at the 
selected option and security 
deployed through that 
arrangement

Q2 Aug 22 Draft 
Report

SELCP Good 
Governance 
Phase 2

To continue with our 
corporate governance work 
by providing assurance and 
support through 
benchmarking and testing 
the Council against CIPFA 
Good Governance 
standards and Framework.

Q2-3 Being 
prepared

SELCP Risk 
Management

To provide assurance that 
there are effective 
arrangements in place to 
manage strategic, project, 
partnership and operational 
risks for the Council. 

Q3 Scoping 
meeting

SELCP ICT – 
Systems Security

A review of the 
arrangements for managing 
system access and 
restrictions, monitoring and 
reporting unauthorized 
attempts or challenges.

Q3 Being 
prepared

BBC Assurance 
Mapping

Updating the assurance 
map and completing the 
Combined Assurance report

Q3-4 Nov 22 Draft 
Report

BBC Audit Follow 
Ups

To provide management 
with assurance that actions 
from previous key audits 
have been implemented and 
this has led to improved 
outcomes

Q3-4 WIP 

Appendix 4 2022/23 Audit Plan Progress

Page 32



22

Audit Scope of Work Start 
Planned 
date

Start 
Actual 
date

End 
Actual 
date

Status/ 
Rating

SELCP Virus 
Protection & 
Malware

To provide assurance that 
the risk associated with 
malware and viruses is 
mitigated through the use of 
appropriate security 
measures.
 

Q4 Scoping 
meeting

SELCP ICT 
Project 
Management

A key area of low assurance 
raised in assurance 
mapping, we will provide 
assurance on ICTs ability to 
manage multiple projects for 
the Council.

Q4

SELCP Key 
Controls

Delivery of key control 
testing to enable the Head 
of Internal Audit to form an 
opinion on the Council’s 
financial control 
environment.

Q4 TOR 
agreed for 
Revenues

Appendix 4 2022/23 Audit Plan Progress

Page 33



23

Appendix 5 Record of changes to the Internal Audit 
Plan 2022/23

Changes to the Audit Plan

Audit Rationale Change Approval 

There are none at this time.

Page 34



P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47



P
age 48



P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: Audit and Governance Committee 

DATE: 30th January 2023 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE: 

Treasury Management Policy and Draft Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 

and Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 

To provide pre-decision scrutiny to the strategy being proposed. 

KEY DECISION:  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

No 

Councillor Noble 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Sean Howsam (Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPSL) 

None 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report is the Treasury Management Policy and Draft Strategy Statement for the 2023/24 

financial year and is included as part of the Budget Setting Report that is submitted to Council 

for approval. 

As the report is a treasury report it is being submitted to Audit and Governance Committee for 

scrutiny prior to submission to Cabinet and Council. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
That the Audit and Governance Committee scrutinise the Treasury Management Policy 

(Appendix A) and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 

Policy and Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23 (Appendix B) and make any comments and 

suggestions for consideration by Cabinet on 22 February 2023 and Council on 6 March 2023 

when they consider these documents as part of the budget report. 
 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Members have the option of making comments to Cabinet in respect of the proposed strategy 

or alternatively making no comments. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operation is 
to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return. 
 

1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve 
arranging long or short-term loans or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, 
when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives. 
 

1.3 CIPFA defines treasury management as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, including 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.” 
 

1.4 The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Public Sector Partnership Services Limited 
(PSPSL) on behalf of the Council. 
 

1.5 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities to 
prepare a capital strategy report which will provide the following: 
 

• a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 
• the implications for future financial sustainability 

 
The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy 

Page 52



3 
 

requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.  The capital strategy is being 
reported separately. 
 

2. REPORT 
 

2.1 There are no proposed changes to the Treasury Management Policy Statement in Appendix 
A and it is attached for completeness. 
 

2.2 The Council is required to set out its Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy and Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year. These 
outline the Council’s strategy for borrowing and its policies for managing its investments 
and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. Our strategy 
statements for 2022/23 are attached at Appendix B. The strategy statements cover: 

 

• reporting requirements 

• capital prudential indicators 2022/23 to 2027/28 

• the borrowing requirement 

• the MRP policy 

• the use of the Council’s resources and the investment position 

• prudential and treasury indicators 

• treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council 

• prospects for interest rates 

• the borrowing strategy 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need 

• debt rescheduling 

• the investment policy 

• creditworthiness policy 

• country limits 

• investment strategy 

 

2.3 The strategy document presented to Audit and Governance for scrutiny is currently at draft 
stage. This is because the future Capital Programme has yet to be finalised and approved by 
Council. Once this is known the tables within the strategy document shown at Appendix B 
will be amended and considered by Cabinet prior to submission to Council for approval 
before the commencement of the 2023/24 financial year. 

 
2.3 The Council’s strategy statement has been prepared in accordance with the revised CIPFA 

Treasury Management Code and will require approval by Full Council. In addition there will 
be Quarterly and Mid-Year Treasury Reports and an Annual Report submitted to 
Governance and Audit Committee. The aim of these reporting arrangements is to ensure 
that those with ultimate responsibility for the treasury management function appreciate 
fully the implications of treasury management policies and activities, and that those 
implementing policies and executing transactions have properly fulfilled their 
responsibilities with regard to delegation and reporting. 
 
 
 

Page 53



4 
 

3. CONCLUSION 
 

3.1 This report has been produced based on information available from the budget setting 
process. As this process is ongoing the information is subject to amendment prior to its final 
submission to Council. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Adoption of the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy will ensure sound financial controls 
associated with the management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions and safeguard these assets. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

This Council is required to produce a Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 

Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy before the 

commencement of each financial year to comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None directly from the report. The Council is currently liaising with external treasury advisors to 

establish how these issues can be taken into considering when assessing the suitability of 

financial institution for investment purposes. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

Risk Management 

The Strategy will put in place measures for the effective control of the risks associated with 

Treasury Management and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. The 

Council’s priority is the security of its investments. 

Page 54



5 
 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Treasury Management Policy Statement 2023/24 

Appendix B - Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 

Statement and Annual Investment Plan 2023/24 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management. 

CIPFA Website 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body for the 2023/24 

financial year.   

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sean Howsam – Interim Treasury & Investments 

Manager (PSPSL) 

Sean.Howsam@pspsl.co.uk 

Signed off by: Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate Development 

(S151) 

Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk 

 

CONSULTATION 

This report is being submitted for pre decision scrutiny prior to submission to Cabinet and 

Council. 

Link Group, who are external treasury advisors to the Council, have been consulted in relation 

to the compilation of this report. 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance is briefed on treasury performance on a regular basis as part 

of the monthly portfolio meetings. 

Page 55

mailto:Sean.Howsam@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  APPENDIX A 

Treasury Management Policy Statement 2023/24 

Boston Borough Council defines its treasury management activities as: 

1. The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 

including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 

control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 

performance consistent with those risks. 

2. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 

be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 

activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 

management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and 

any financial instruments entered into to manage these risks. 

3. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 

towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore 

committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, 

and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, 

within the context of effective risk management. 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



  
  APPENDIX 6
  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Boston Borough Council 
 

Draft Treasury Management Strategy 

 Statement 

 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and 

Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 

 
 

  

Page 59



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

1.  Introduction 

1.1 Background 

 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means 
that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury 

management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, 
with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in 

low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low 
risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering 
investment return. 

 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 

of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, 
to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations. This 

management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term 
loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent 

and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council 
risk or cost objectives. 
 

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or 

the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-
day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a 
balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from 

cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally 
result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security 

of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the 
General Fund Balance. 

 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines 
treasury management as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 

flows, including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; 
the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Public Sector Partnership 

Services Ltd (PSPSL) on behalf of the Council. PSPSL is responsible for the: 
 

• Production of the annual treasury management strategy  

• Production of regular treasury management policy reports 
• Production of treasury management practices 

• Production of budget and budget variations relating to the treasury 
management function 

• Production of management information reports 

• Provision of adequate treasury management resources and skills, and 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 

function 

Page 60



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

• Arrangement of the appointment of external service providers. 
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 
treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 

activities, (arising usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the 
day-to-day treasury management activities. 

 
1.2  Reporting Requirements 
 

1.2.1 Capital Strategy 
 

The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all 
local authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy report, which will provide the 

following:  
 

• a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
provision of services 

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 
• the implications for future financial sustainability 

 

The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the 
full council fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and 

resulting capital strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk 
appetite. 
 

1.2.2 Treasury Management reporting 
 

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals. 

 
• Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this 

report) - The first, and most important report is forward looking and 
covers: 

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised) including treasury indicators; and  

• an annual investment strategy (the parameters on how 

investments are to be managed). 

 

• A mid year treasury management report – This is primarily a 

progress report and will update members on the capital position, 
amending prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any 

policies require revision. In addition, this Council will receive 
quarterly update reports. 

 

• An annual treasury report – This is a backward looking review 
document and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 

Page 61



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the 
estimates within the strategy. 

Scrutiny 

 
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 

recommended to the Full Council.  This role is undertaken by the Audit and 
Governance Committee.  
 

Quarterly reports  
 

In addition to the three major reports detailed above, from 2023/24 
quarterly reporting (end of June/end of December) is also required.  

However, these additional reports do not have to be reported to Full 
Council/Cabinet but do require to be adequately scrutinised.  This role is 
undertaken by the Audit and Governance Committee.  The reports, 

specifically, should comprise updated Treasury/Prudential Indicators. 
 

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 
 
The strategy for 2023/24 covers two main areas: 

 
Capital Issues 

• the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury management issues 

• the current treasury position; 

• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the 
Council; 

• prospects for interest rates; 

• the borrowing strategy; 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

• debt rescheduling; 

• the investment strategy; 

• creditworthiness policy; and 

• policy on use of external service providers. 

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
DLUHC Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential 

Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code. 

 

1.4 Training 

 

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the responsible officer to 

ensure that members with responsibility for treasury management receive 
adequate training in treasury management.  This especially applies to members 

responsible for scrutiny.  The Council has addressed this by targeted training 
courses for relevant members.  

Page 62



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 

The training needs of PSPSL treasury management officers are periodically 
reviewed and is supplemented by targeted training as necessary and technical 

advice from our treasury management advisors. 

 

As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review 
knowledge and skills:  

 

• Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor 
attendance is identified.  

• Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and 

members.  

• Require treasury management officers and members to undertake self-
assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the 

schedule that may be adopted by the Council).  

• Have regular communication with officers and members, encouraging 
them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis. 

 

Training for members will be arranged as required and the training needs of 

treasury management officers are periodically reviewed. 

 

A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury 

function will be maintained by the Treasury and Investments Manager (PSPSL).  
Similarly, a formal record of the treasury management/capital finance training 
received by members will also be maintained by Democratic Services. 

 
1.5 Treasury management consultants 
 

PSPSL uses Link Group, Link Treasury Services Limited as its external treasury 
management advisors for the Council. 

 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance 

is not placed upon our external service providers. All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, 

our treasury advisers. 
 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 

methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented and subjected to regular review. 

2 The Capital Prudential Indicators 2022/23 – 2027/28 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 

management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected 
in the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview 
and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

Page 63



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 

2.1 Capital Expenditure and financing 

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 

plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 
cycle.  Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts. 
 

The capital expenditure plans mirror those within the budget report and will 
be amended throughout the year as spending plans alter. 

 
The following table summarises the capital expenditure plans and how these 
plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of 

resources results in a funding borrowing need.  
 

CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME £’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

Estimate 

2023/24 
£’000 

Estimate 

2024/25 
£’000 

Estimate 

2025/26 
£’000 

Estimate 

2026/27 
£’000 

Estimate 

2027/28 
£’000 

Estimate 

Disabled Facilities 

Grants 451 280 280 280 280 280 

Housing Strategy 

Costs 56 0 0 0 0 0 

Multi Use Games 

Area 17 0 0 0 0 0 

Resurfacing & 

Footpath 

Improvements 70 0 0 0 0 0 

Town Centre 

Heritage Scheme 1,285 0 0 0 0 0 

IT Infrastructure 

Refresh 183 120 194 100 100 100 

Vehicle 

Replacement  278 56 0 0 0 0 

Changing Place 370 0 0 0 0 0 

PE21 Boston Town 

Deal 252 0 0 0 0 0 

PSPSL Joining 

Costs & ICT 272 0 0 0 0 0 

Towns Fund - 

Leisure 1,163 1,990 0 0 0 0 

Towns Fund - 

Mayflower 822 8,490 3,307 0 0 0 

Towns Fund – St 

Botolph’s Library 222 0 0 0 0 0 

Towns Fund – 

Centre for Food & 

Fresh Produce 

Logistics 836 388 0 0 0 0 

Towns Fund – 

Blenkin Memorial 

Hall 845 0 0 0 0 0 

Towns fund -

Healing the High 

Street (inc 

Shodfriars) 312 2,573 1,356 121 0 0 

Page 64



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

Towns Fund – 

Boston Station 1,562 990 0 0 0 0 

Mobile Phone 

Refresh 0 30 0 0 0 0 

Members Device 

Refresh 0 41 0 0 0 0 

Laptop Refresh 0 25 0 0 0 0 

Firewall & Proxy 

Refresh 0 55 0 0 0 0 

GRAND TOTAL 8,996 15,038 5,137 501 380 380 

FUNDED BY       

Capital Grants (7,443) (13,711) (4,943) (401) (280) (280) 

Capital Receipts (1,324) (1,307) (100) 0 (100) (100) 

IT Reserves (183) (20) (94) (100) 0 0 

RR Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Housing Reserve (56) 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL (8,996) (15,038) (5,137) (501) (380) (380) 

 

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 

expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s indebtedness and so 

its underlying borrowing need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has 

not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will 
increase the CFR.  
 
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the MRP is a statutory annual 

revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each 
assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as 

they are used.  
 
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. Public Finance 

Initiative (PFI) schemes, finance leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, 
and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of scheme 

include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to separately 
borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has no such schemes 
within the CFR. 

 
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the 

cumulative CFR projections as follows: 
 
£000’s 2022/23 

Estimate 
2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

2027/28 
Estimate 

CFR – General Fund 384 369 354 339 324 309 

CFR - Non-treasury 
investments 

19,859 19,844 19,829 19,814 19,799 19,784 

Total CFR 20,243 20,213 20,183 20,153 20,123 20,093 

Movement in CFR (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) 

       

Page 65



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

Net financing need for 
the year above) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Less MRP/VRP and 
other financing 
movements 

(30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) 

Movement in CFR (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) 

 
2.3 Liability Benchmark 

A third and new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark 
(LB).  The Council is required to estimate and measure the LB for the 

forthcoming financial year and the following two financial years, as a 
minimum.  

There are four components to the LB: - 

1. Existing loan debt outstanding: the Council’s existing loans that 
are still outstanding in future years.   

2. Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR 
definition in the Prudential Code and projected into the future based 

on approved prudential borrowing and planned MRP.  

3. Net loans requirement: this will show the Council’s gross loan debt 
less treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, 

projected into the future and based on its approved prudential 
borrowing, planned MRP and any other major cash flows forecast.  

4. Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net 
loans requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance.  

 

Page 66



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 

 

2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances 

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either 
finance capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the 

revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments unless 
resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).   

 
A full analysis will be provided in the budget setting report. 
     

2.5 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 

Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003, where the Council has financed 
capital expenditure by borrowing it is required to make a provision each 
year through a revenue charge (MRP). 

The Council is required to calculate a prudent provision of MRP which 
ensures that the outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period that is 

reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits. The MRP Guidance (2018) gives four ready-made options 
for calculating MRP, but the Council can use any other reasonable basis that 

it can justify as prudent. 

The MRP policy statement requires Full Council approval in advance of each 

financial year. 

The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement: 

For all unsupported borrowing the MRP policy will be: 

Page 67



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 
• asset life method (straight line) – MRP will be based on the 

estimated life of the assets, in accordance with the regulations (this 

option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction); 

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over 
approximately the asset’s life.  

Capital expenditure incurred during 2022/23 will not be subject to an MRP 

charge until 2023/24, or in the year after the asset becomes operational. 

The Council will apply the asset life method for any expenditure capitalised 

under a Capitalisation Direction. 
 

MRP in respect of assets acquired under Finance Leases or PFI will be 
charged at an amount equal to the principal element of the annual 
repayment; 

 
 

Assets held for investment purposes 
 
Where the Council holds investment assets the Council’s MRP Policy will be 

to determine the amount of MRP and VRP (voluntary revenue provision) 
based on the combined value of its holdings at the end of each financial 

year. The Council will ensure that any capital receipts generated from the 
sale of property fund units will be earmarked and set aside when received  
to reduce the CFR liability by the amount of the original borrowing for units 

sold if MRP/VRP has not previously been provided for. 
 

The Council will also monitor the performance of its Property Fund holdings 
on a regular basis with performance reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee quarterly. 

 
MRP Overpayments 

 
Under the MRP guidance, charges can be made in excess of the statutory 
MRP known as voluntary revenue provision (VRP). 

 
VRP can be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In 

order for these amounts to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy 
must disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. 
 

There are no cumulative VRP overpayments made up to and including the 
2021/22 financial year. 

 

3. Borrowing 

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service 
activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, 

so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity.  This will involve 
both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 

Page 68



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the 
relevant treasury/prudential indicators, the current and projected debt 
positions and the annual investment strategy. 
 

3.1 Current portfolio position 

 
The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2022 and for the 
position as at 31 December 2022 based on cost are shown in the following table 

for both borrowing and investments. 
 

 
 

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised in the following 
table. The table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital 
borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any 

over or under borrowing. 
 
£’000’s 2022/23 

Estimate 
2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

2027/28 
Estimate 

Debt at 1 April  16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 

Expected change in 

Debt 
- - - - - - 

Actual gross debt 

at 31 March  
16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 

The Capital 

Financing 

Requirement 
20,243 20,213 20,183 20,153 20,123 20,093 

(Under) /over 

borrowing 
(3,794) (3,764) (3,734) (3,704) (3,674) (3,644) 

 

Within the range of prudential indicators, there are a number of key 
indicators to ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-

defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its 
gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR 

in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2023/24 

Actual Actual Current Current

31/03/22 31/03/22 31/12/22 31/12/22

Treasury Investments £000 %  £000 %  

Banks 21,740 48% 14,650 33%

Building Societies - Rated 0 0% 0 0%

Local Authorities 0 0% 0 0%

DMADF (H.M.Treasury) 0 0% 0 0%

Money Market Funds 3,000 7% 5,200 12%

Certificates of Deposit 0 0% 6,000 14%

Total Managed In House 24,740 55% 25,850 59%

Bond Funds 0 0% 0 0%

Property Funds 20,534 45% 17,936 41%

Total Managed Externally 20,534 45% 17,936 41%

Total Treasury Investments 45,274 100% 43,786 100%

Treasury External Borrowing

Local Authorities 0 0% 0 0%

PWLB 15,449 94% 15,449 94%

LOBOs 1,000 6% 1,000 6%

Total External Borrowing 16,449 100% 16,449 100%

Net Treasury Investments / (Borrowing) 28,825 0 27,337 0

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

Page 69



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

and the following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited 
early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not 
undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes. 

 
The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this 

prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties 
for the future.  This view takes into account current commitments, 
existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report. 

 
3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 

 
The operational boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external 

borrowing is not normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would 
be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the 
levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash 

resources. 

Operational boundary 
(£’000) 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

2027/28 
Estimate 

Debt 22,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 

Other long term liabilities 
3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Total 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 

 

The authorised limit for external debt - This is a key prudential indicator 
and represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This 
represents a legal limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this 

limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council.  It reflects the level of 
external debt, which while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, 

but is not sustainable in the longer term.     

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control 

either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, 
although this power has not yet been exercised. 

2. As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the 
following indicators, as shown below: 

 
Authorised 
Limit (£’000) 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

2027/28 
Estimate 

Borrowing 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Other long term 
liabilities 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Total 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 

 

 
 
 

Page 70



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

3.3 Prospects for interest rates 
 
The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of 

their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. 
Link provided the following forecasts on 19 December 2022.  These are 

forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80 basis points (bps). 
 

 
 

Additional notes by Link on this forecast table: - 
 

Our central forecast for interest rates was updated on 19 December and 
reflected a view that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) would be keen 

to further demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials by delivering a 
succession of rate increases.  Bank Rate stands at 3.5% currently but is 
expected to reach a peak of 4.5% in H1 2023. 

 
Further down the road, we anticipate the Bank of England will be keen to 

loosen monetary policy when the worst of the inflationary pressures are 
behind us – but that timing will be one of fine judgment: cut too soon, and 
inflationary pressures may well build up further; cut too late and any 

downturn or recession may be prolonged. 
 

The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation looks to have peaked 
at 11.1% in Q4 2022 (currently 10.7%).  Despite the cost-of-living squeeze 
that is still taking shape, the Bank will want to see evidence that wages are 

not spiralling upwards in what is evidently a very tight labour market. 
 

Regarding the plan to sell £10bn of gilts back into the market each quarter 
(Quantitative Tightening (QT)), this has started and will focus on the short, 
medium and longer end of the curve in equal measure, now that the short-

lived effects of the Truss/Kwarteng unfunded dash for growth policy are 
firmly in the rear-view mirror. 

 
In the upcoming months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic 
data releases and clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and 

the Government over its fiscal policies, but the on-going conflict between 
Russia and Ukraine.  (More recently, the heightened tensions between 

China/Taiwan/US also have the potential to have a wider and negative 
economic impact.) 
 

On the positive side, consumers are still estimated to be sitting on over 
£160bn of excess savings left over from the pandemic so that will cushion 

some of the impact of the above challenges.   However, most of those are 
held by more affluent people whereas lower income families already spend 

Page 71



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

nearly all their income on essentials such as food, energy and 
rent/mortgage payments. 
 

PWLB RATES 
 

• The yield curve movements have become less volatile of late and 
PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty Rates are, generally, in the range of 
4.10% to 4.80%.   

• We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects 
on gilt yields of the likely increases in Bank Rate and the elevated 

inflation outlook.  
 

The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 
 

• The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is to the 

downside 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates include: 
 

• Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive 
and depress economic activity (accepting that in the near-term this 

is also an upside risk to inflation and, thus, rising gilt yields).  
• The Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next two 

years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and 

increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  
• UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on 

trade flows and financial services due to complications or lack of co-
operation in sorting out significant remaining issues.  

• Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, 

China/Taiwan/US, Iran, North Korea and Middle Eastern countries, 
which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
include: 
 

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of 
increases in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures 

to build up too strongly and for a longer period within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates Bank Rate staying higher for 
longer than we currently project or even necessitates a further series 

of increases in Bank Rate. 
• The Government acts too quickly to cut taxes and/or increases 

expenditure in light of the cost-of-living squeeze.  
• The pound weakens because of a lack of confidence in the UK 

Government’s fiscal policies, resulting in investors pricing in a risk 

premium for holding UK sovereign debt.  
• Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields up 

higher than currently forecast. 
• Projected gilt issuance, inclusive of natural maturities and QT, 

could be too much for the markets to comfortably digest without 
higher yields consequently. 

Page 72



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 
Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank 
Rate stands at 2.5%. As all PWLB certainty rates are currently above this 

level, borrowing strategies will need to be reviewed in that context.  Better 
value can generally be obtained at the shorter end of the curve and short-

dated fixed Local Authority (LA) to LA monies should be considered. 
Temporary borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate 
and may also prove attractive whilst the market waits for inflation, and 

therein gilt yields, to drop back later in 2023.  
 

Our suggested budgeted earnings rates for investments up to about three 
months’ duration in each financial year are as follows: - 

 

Average expected earnings in each year % 

2022/23 (remainder) 3.95% 

2023/24 4.40% 

2024/25 3.30% 

2025/26 2.60% 

2026/27 2.50% 

Years 6 to 10 2.80% 

Years 10+ 2.80% 

 
As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in 

respect of all interest rate forecasts.   
 

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps, whereas PWLB 
forecasts have been rounded to the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts 
within bands of + / - 25 bps. Naturally, we continue to monitor events and 

will update our forecasts as and when appropriate. 
 

(End of Link Group Commentary) 

3.4  Borrowing strategy  

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means 

that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not 
been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 

balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy 
is prudent as medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall 
from their current levels once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by 

tighter near-term monetary policy.  That is, Bank Rate increases over the 
remainder of the 2022/23 financial year. 

 
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will 

be adopted with the 2022/23 treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer  will 

Page 73



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances: 
 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing 
rates, then borrowing will be postponed. 

 
• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 

borrowing rates than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding will be 

drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in 
the next few years. 

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the 
next available opportunity. 

 
3.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need  

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order 

to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to 
borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 

Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  

 
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 

appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism. 

3.6 Debt rescheduling 

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur 
as there is still a large difference between premature redemption rates and 

new borrowing rates. 
 
If rescheduling is to be undertaken, it will be reported to the Executive 

Board, at the earliest meeting following its action. 
 

3.7 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and / or 
types of borrowing 
 

Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points.  
However, consideration may still need to be given to sourcing funding from 

the following sources for the following reasons: 
 

• Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years or 

so – generally still cheaper than the Certainty Rate). 
 

• Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension 
funds but also some banks, out of forward dates where the objective 
is to avoid a “cost of carry” or to achieve refinancing certainty over 

the next few years). 
 

Page 74



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these 
alternative funding sources. 
 

3.8 Approved Sources of Long and Short-Term Borrowing  
 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable 
   

PWLB • • 

UK Municipal Bond Agency  • • 

Local Authorities • • 

Banks • • 

Pension Funds • • 

Insurance Companies • • 

UK Infrastructure Bank • • 

Market (long-term) • • 

Market (temporary) • • 

Market (LOBOs) • • 

Stock Issues • • 

Local Temporary • • 

Local Bonds • 

Local Authority Bills                                                          • • 

Overdraft  • 

Negotiable Bonds • • 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances) • • 

Commercial Paper • 

Medium Term Notes •  

Finance Leases • • 

  

Page 75



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

4 Annual Investment Strategy 

4.1 Investment policy – management of risk 

 
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC - this was 
formerly the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG)) and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include 
both financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with 

treasury (financial) investments, (as managed by the treasury management 
team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding 
assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report). 

 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: 

 
• DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 
• CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 

Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  
• CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   

 
The Council’s funds are managed by PSPSL with reference to a detailed cash 
flow forecast on a daily basis for the current year. Protocols are in place to 

govern the movement of funds within specific limits.  
 

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity 
second and then yield, (return). The Council will aim to achieve the optimum 
return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security 

and liquidity and within the Council’s risk appetite. 
 

In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a 
degree of liquidity to cover cash flow needs but to also consider “laddering” 

investments for periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial 
institutions, whilst investment rates remain elevated, as well as wider range 
fund options. 

  
The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA place a high priority on the 

management of risk. This Council has adopted a prudent approach to managing 
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: - 
 

• Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list 
of highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification 

and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor 
counterparties are the short term and long-term ratings. 

 

• Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality 
of an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the 

financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The 
assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion 

of the markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with 
its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit 

Page 76



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

default swaps” (CDS) and overlay that information on top of the credit 
ratings.  

 

• Other information sources used will include the financial press, share 
price and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in 

order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of 
potential investment counterparties. 

 

• This Council has defined the list of types of investment instruments 
that the treasury management team are authorised to use. There are two 

lists in Appendix 5.3 under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-
specified’ investments.  

 
• Specified investments are those with a high level of credit 

quality and subject to a maturity limit of one year or have less than 

a year left to run to maturity if originally they were originally 
classified as being non-specified investments solely due to the 

maturity period exceeding one year. 
 

• Non-specified investments are those with less high credit 

quality, may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more 
complex instruments which require greater consideration by 

members and officers before being authorised for use.  
 

 

• Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that 

it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments 

to £5m of the total investment portfolio, (see paragraph 4.3). 

 

• Lending limits, the maximum total investments to any individual 

financial institution or its parent group is £5m. The maximum limit for 

individual money market funds is £7.5m. There is no maximum limit 

for deposits with the UK Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility 

(DMADF) as this is effectively the UK Government. The maximum 

permitted duration of investments for each institution will be 

determined in accordance with paragraph 4.2.  

 
• Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in paragraph 

4.2. 

 

• This Council will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are 

invested for longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 4.4).   

 

• Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries 

with a specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 4.3). 

 

• PSPSL has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 1.5), to 

provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of 

security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this Council in 

Page 77



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

the context of the expected level of cash balances and need for 

liquidity throughout the year. 

 

• All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

 

• As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under IFRS 

9, this Council will consider the implications of investment instruments 

which could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount 

invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. 

(In November 2018, the MHCLG, concluded a consultation for a 

temporary override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their 

portfolio of all pooled investments by announcing a statutory override to 

delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five years ending 31.3.23). At the 

current juncture it has not been determined whether a further extension 

to the over-ride will be agreed by Government. 

 

However, this Council will also pursue value for money in treasury 

management and will monitor the yield from investment income against 

appropriate benchmarks for investment performance, (see paragraph 4.5).  

Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during 

the year. 

 

 

Changes in risk management policy from last year. 

 

The above criteria are unchanged from last year. 

4.2 Creditworthiness policy 

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group.  This 
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utlilising credit ratings 

from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard and 
Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the 

following overlays:  
 

• watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 

countries. 
 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, and any assigned Watches 
and Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an 

overlay of CDS spreads. The end product of this is a series of colour coded 
bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These 
colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for 

investments.   The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following 
durational bands: 

  

Page 78



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

• Yellow  5 years  
• Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit 

score of 1.25 

• Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit  
   score of 1.5 

• Purple   2 years 
• Blue   1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised 

UK Banks) 

• Orange  1 year 
• Red   6 months 

• Green   100 days   
• No colour  not to be used  

 
The Link creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just 
primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give 

undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 
 

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a short term 
rating (Fitch or equivalents) of short term rating F1 and a long term rating of 
A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating 

agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these 
instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or 

other topical market information, to support their use. 
All credit ratings will be monitored daily. PSPSL is alerted to changes to ratings 
of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness service. 

 
• if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer 

meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new 
investment will be withdrawn immediately. 
 

• in addition to the use of credit ratings PSPSL will be advised of information 
in movements in CDS spreads against the iTraxx European Financials 
benchmark and other market data on a daily basis provided exclusively 

to it by Link.  Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition, 
this Council will also use market data and market information and information 
on any external support for banks to help support its decision making process. 

 
Creditworthiness. 

 
Significant levels of downgrades to Short and Long-Term credit ratings have 
not materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did 

change, any alterations were limited to Outlooks. However, more recently 
the UK sovereign debt rating has been placed on Negative Outlook by the 

three major rating agencies in the wake of the Truss/Kwarteng unfunded 
tax-cuts policy.  Although the Sunak/Hunt government has calmed markets, 
the outcome of the rating agency reviews is unknown at present, but it is 

possible the UK sovereign debt rating will be downgraded.  Accordingly, 

Page 79



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

when setting minimum sovereign debt ratings, this Council will not set a 
minimum rating for the UK.  
 

CDS prices 
 

Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), 
spiked upwards during the days of the Truss/Kwarteng government, they 
have returned to more average levels since then. However, sentiment can 

easily shift, so it will remain important to undertake continual monitoring of 
all aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances. Link monitor CDS 

prices as part of their creditworthiness service to local authorities and the 
Council has access to this information via its Link-provided Passport portal. 

4.3 Limits 

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total 

investment portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, groups and 

sectors.   

• Non-specified investment limit. The Council has determined that it 

will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments to 

£10m of the total investment portfolio (excluding non treasury 

investments). 

 

• Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use 

approved counterparties from the United Kingdom or countries with a 

minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch (or equivalent). The 

list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of 

this report are shown in Appendix 5.4.  This list will be added to, or 

deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with 

this policy. 

 

• Other limits. In addition: 

• no more than £5m will be placed with any non-UK country at any 

time; 

• limits in place above will apply to a group of companies; 

• sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness 

4.4 Investment strategy 

In-House Funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e., 

rates for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable 
by investing for longer periods.  The current shape of the yield curve suggests 

that is the case at present, but there is the prospect of Bank Rate peaking in 
the first half of 2023 and possibly reducing as early as the latter part of 2023 

so an agile investment strategy would be appropriate to optimise returns. 
 
Accordingly, while some cash balances are required in order to manage the ups 

and downs of cash flow, where cash sums can be identified that could be 

Page 80



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer-term 
investments will be carefully assessed. 
Investment returns expectations  

 
The current forecast shown in paragraph 3.3, includes a forecast for Bank Rate 

to reach 4.5% in Q2 2023. 
 
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 

placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year are as 
follows:  

 
• 2022/23 (remainder) 3.95% 

• 2023/24    4.40% 
• 2024/25    3.30%  
• 2025/26   2.60% 

• 2026/27   2.50% 
• Years 6+   2.80% 

 
As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in 
respect of all interest rate forecasts.   

 
For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business 

reserve instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-
dated deposits, (overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from the 
compounding of interest.   

 
Investment treasury indicator and limit - Total principal funds invested for 

greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end.  

 
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury 

indicator and limit, as shown below: 
 
 

£’000 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Principal sums invested > 365 days 
(excluding non-treasury investments) 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

Current treasury investments as at 
31 December 2020 in excess of 1 
year maturing in each year 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

4.5 Investment risk benchmarking 
 

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks in this area, as officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels 
are adequate to monitor the current and trend position, and amend the 

operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change. 

Page 81



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment 
performance of its investment portfolio of the 3 month Sterling Overnight 
Index Average (SONIA) rate. 

 

4.6 End of year investment report 

 
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity 
as part of its Annual Treasury Report.  

 

 

 

Page 82



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

5 Appendices  
 

5.1 Prudential and treasury indicators  

5.2 Interest rate forecasts 

5.3 Treasury management practice 1 – credit and counterparty risk 

management  

5.4 Approved countries for investments 

5.5 Treasury management scheme of delegation 

5.6 The treasury management role of the Section 151 Officer 

 
 
 

Page 83



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.1 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY 
INDICATORS 2022/23 – 2027/28  
 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is 

reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ 
overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. Full details are provided in 
paragraph 2.1 and summary totals are shown below. 

 

5.1.1 Capital expenditure 

Capital 
expenditure 
£’000 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

2027/28 
Estimate 

Total 8,996 15,038 5,137 501 380 380 

5.1.2 Affordability prudential indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing 
prudential indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are 
required to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans.   These 
provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 

Council’s overall finances.  The Council is asked to approve the following 
indicators: 

a. Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other 
long-term obligation costs net of investment income), against the net 
revenue stream. 

 

 
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the 

proposals in this budget report. 
  

% 2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

2027/28 
Estimate 

Total (7.64%) (6.90%) (1.27%) (0.45%) (0.40%) (0.41%) 

Page 84



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 
5.1.3 Maturity structure of borrowing 

 

These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed 
rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower 

limits.  The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators 
and limits: 
 

 

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2023/24 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 100% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 100% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 100% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 100% 

10 years to 20 years  0% 100% 

20 years to 30 years  0% 100% 

30 years to 40 years  0% 100% 

40 years to 50 years  0% 100% 

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2023/24 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 100% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 100% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 100% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 100% 

10 years to 20 years  0% 100% 

20 years to 30 years  0% 100% 

30 years to 40 years  0% 100% 

40 years to 50 years  0% 100% 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



      APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

5.2 APPENDIX: Interest Rate Forecast 2022 - 2025 
 

 
 
PWLB forecasts are based on PWLB certainty rates. 

P
age 86



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.3 - Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and 
Counterparty Risk Management  
 

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling 

denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting 
the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. (Non-specified 

investments which would be specified investments apart from originally 

being for a period longer than 12 months, will be classified as being 
specified once the remaining period to maturity falls to under twelve 

months.) 
 

 
 Minimum ‘High’ Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Debt Management Agency Deposit 
Facility 

N/A 
In-house ( no 
maximum limit) 

Term Deposits - UK Local Authorities N/A In-house 

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies  

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house 

Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating In-house 

Certificates of Deposit issued by banks 
and building societies 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

AAA 
In-house buy and 
hold 

Money Market Funds – CCLA (Church, 
Charities & Local Authority) 

AAA 
In-house (£7.5m 
limit for cash flow 
purposes) 

Money Market Funds  CNAV (Constant 
Net Asset Value) 

AAA In-house 

Money Market Funds  LVAV (Low 
Volatility Asset Value) 

AAA In-house 

Money Market Funds  VNAV (Variable 
Net Asset Value) 

AAA In-house 

 
Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies.  

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max of total 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

UK  part nationalised 
banks 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-
house  

£5m 1 year 

Banks part 
nationalised by AAA 
or AA- sovereign 
rating countries – non 
UK 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-
house  

£5m 1 year 

Page 87



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

 
If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period 
should not exceed one year in aggregate.   
 

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may 
differ from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions 

made by this Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse 
revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we will review the 
accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken. 

 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not 

meet the Specified Investment criteria.  A maximum of £10m treasury 
investments can be held in aggregate in non-specified investment. 
 

Maturities of ANY period 
 

 
Minimum Credit 

Criteria 
Use 

Max of non-
specified 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits 

Sovereign rating  
of AAA to AA- and 
minimum colour of 
green on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house  £5m 1 year 

UK Government Gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating 

In-house 
buy and 
hold 

£5m 2 year 

Sovereign bond issues (other 
than the UK govt) 

AAA 
In-house 
buy and 
hold 

£5m 2 year 

Bond issuance issued by a 
financial institution which is 
explicitly guaranteed by  the 
UK Government  (e.g. 
National Rail)  

UK sovereign 
rating 

In-house 
buy and 
hold 

£5m 2 year 

Collateralised deposits (see 
note 1) 

UK  Sovereign 
rating  

In-house  £5m 1 year 

Page 88



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs) 

Property Funds: 
(excluding non-treasury 
investments) 

 In-house £8m  

The use of property funds can be deemed capital expenditure, and as such will be 

an application (spending) of capital resources.  This Council will seek guidance on 
the status of any fund it may consider using. Appropriate due diligence will also be 

undertaken before investment of this type is undertaken. 
 
The Section 151 and Deputy Section 151 Officer will have delegated authority to 

invest in property funds subject to consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance. 

 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs): - 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max of non-
specified 
investments 

Max. maturity 
period 

1. Government Liquidity 
     Funds 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house  £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

2. Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds with a credit score 
of 1.25 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

3. Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds with a credit score 
of 1.5 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

4. Bond Funds 
Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

5. Gilt Funds 
Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

 

Note 1 : as collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local 
authority LOBOs, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated 
investment as it is equivalent to lending to a local authority. 
  

Page 89



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

Maturities in excess of 1 year 

 Minimum Credit Criteria Use 
Max. of 
total 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

Term Deposits – UK 
local authorities  

N/A In-house £5m 2 year 

Term deposits to 
Registered Social 
Landlords 

None 

In-house 
subject to 
due 
diligence 
report by 
Link Group 

£5m 5 year 

Term deposits – 
banks and building 
societies  

Sovereign rating  of AAA 
to AA- and minimum 
colour of orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit rating 
matrix 

In-house £5m 2 year 

Certificates of deposit 
issued by banks and 
building societies  

Sovereign rating  of AAA 
to AA- and minimum 
colour of orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit rating 
matrix 

In-house  £5m 2 year 

Bonds issued by 
multilateral 
development banks 

AAA In-house  £5m 2 year 

 

Whilst these are maximum limits, under normal circumstances the Section 151 
Officer will ensure lower limits are maintained. The higher limits are required 

to allow flexibility in the movement of funds if a particular issue or circumstance 
arose e.g. global banking crisis. 
 

The maximum total investment to any individual financial institution or its 
parent group is £5m except for the instant access money market fund which 

has a limit of £7.5m and the UK Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (UK 
Government) which has no maximum limit.  
 

HSBC provides banking services to the Council and the above limits do not 
include the day to day balance in the Council’s current account. 

 
Environmental, Social and Governance Considerations 
 

The Council continues to develop its strategy in this area. 
 

The Council is interested in undertaking actions to reduce climate change and 
as an ethical investor will consider the environmental, social and governance 
issues. 

 
Officers are working with the Council’s external treasury advisors to establish 

how these issues can be taken into consideration when Link Group formulate 
their Suggested Credit List which is used by the Council. 

Page 90



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.4 - Approved countries for investments as at 2 December 

2022 

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher, (we 
show the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the time of 
writing - for Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling 
markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Link credit worthiness service. 
 

Based on lowest available rating 
 

AAA                      

• Australia 

• Denmark 

• Germany 

• Luxembourg 

• Netherlands  

• Norway 

• Singapore 

• Sweden 

• Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

• Canada    

• Finland  

• U.S.A. 

 

AA 

• Abu Dhabi (UAE)  

• France 

 

AA- 

• Belgium 

• Hong Kong 

• Qatar  

• U.K. 

 

Page 91



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.5 - Treasury management scheme of delegation 

Council - Receive, Review and Approval of Treasury Policy 
Statement – February/March cycle 

- Receive, Review and Approval of Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement incorporating the Annual Investment 

Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy – 
February/March cycle followed by mid year report update. 
Updates or revisions at other times as required 

- Receive, Review and Approval of Annual Treasury Outturn 
Report by 30 September after the year end 

 
Executive Board - Recommend to Council a Treasury Policy Statement 

- Recommend to Council a Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement incorporating the Annual Investment Strategy 
and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy – February/March 

cycle followed by mid year report update 
- Extraordinary Activity and Investment Management 

arrangements – as soon as possible after significant 
change occurs 

- Recommend to Council a Treasury Management Outturn 

Report by 30 September after the year end 
 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

- Receive Treasury Management Mid Term report 
- Receive Treasury Management Outturn Report 
- Receive Treasury Management Practices annually if 

amended 
- Scrutiny of the Treasury Management Strategy before the 

commencement of each financial year 
- Scrutiny of Treasury Management performance as part of 

the Mid Term report and quarterly reports. 

 
 

SCRUTINY AND MONITORING 
  

Council delegates the scrutiny and monitoring of the Treasury Management 
function to the Audit and Governance Committee.  As a minimum they will 

receive quarterly reports and a Mid Term Treasury report on investment issues 
and performance. Training will be made available for members of the Audit and 
Governance Committee to ensure they have the necessary skills to undertake 

this role.  
 

 
The Audit and Governance Committee will also have access to professional and 
independent advice and support as required in order to undertake this role. 

Page 92



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.6 - The treasury management role of the section 151 
officer and deputy 

The S151 Officer’s main functions with regards to treasury are to: 

  
• recommend clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 

review the same regularly, and monitor compliance 
• submit regular treasury management policy reports 
• submit budgets and budget variations 

• receive and review management information reports 
• review the performance of the treasury management function 

• ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 
the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 

function 
• ensure the adequacy of internal audit, and liaise with external audit 
• recommending the appointment of external service providers 

• preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital 
financing, non-financial investments and treasury management, with a 

long term timeframe  
• ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 

prudent in the long term and provides value for money 

• ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-
financial investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the 

Council 
• ensure that the Council has appropriate legal powers to undertake 

expenditure on non-financial assets and their financing 

• ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the Council does 
not undertake a level of investing which exposes the Council to an 

excessive level of risk compared to its financial resources 
• ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the 

approval, monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial 

investments and long term liabilities 
• provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments 

including material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and 
financial guarantees  

• ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 

exposures taken on by the Council 
• ensuring that the Council has adequate expertise, either in house or 

externally provided, to carry out the above 
• creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with 

how non treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include 

the following: 
 

➢ Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and 
risk management criteria for any material non-treasury investment 
portfolios; 

 
➢ Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and 

schedules), including methodology and criteria for assessing the 
performance and success of non-treasury investments;          

 

Page 93



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

➢ Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and 
schedules), including a statement of the governance requirements 
for decision making in relation to non-treasury investments; and 

arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due diligence 
is carried out to support decision making; 

 
➢ Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), 

including where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 

  
➢ Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how 

the relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury 
investments will be arranged. 

 
As an added safeguard, as part of the Section 151’s statutory responsibility, 
the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) is obliged to notify the Monitoring Officer of any 

material change proposed to approved treasury policies and of any major 
breaches which have occurred. 

 
Any significant operational or other changes will be notified and discussed with 
the relevant Portfolio Holder.  This is currently the Portfolio Holder for Finance. 

Any actions resulting from this will be reported to Audit and Governance. If 
timescales are such that due to urgency, the formal reporting process cannot 

be utilised, then emergency authorisation will be sought through existing 
mechanisms. 
 

The CFO has delegated powers through this policy to take the most appropriate 
form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to take the most appropriate 

form of investments in approved instruments.  
 
The CFO may delegate power to borrow and invest to members of staff.  All 

dealing transactions must be conducted by the CFO, or staff authorised by the 
CFO, to act as temporary cover for leave/sickness.  All transactions must be 

authorised by at least two of authorised signatories, one of which must be 
employed by BBC. 
 

The CFO and the Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Policy is adhered to, 
and if not, will bring the matter to the attention of Councillors as soon as 

possible. 
 
Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, 

it is the responsibility of the CFO to be satisfied, by reference to the Monitoring 
Officer, the Council’s Legal Department and external advisors, as appropriate, 

that the proposed transaction does not breach any statute, external regulation 
or the Council’s Financial Regulations. 
 

It is also the responsibility of the CFO to ensure that the Council complies with 
the requirements of the Non Investment Products Code for principals and 

broking firms in the wholesale markets as well as the Financial Services 
Authority’s Code of Market Conduct. 

 

Page 94



  
  
  APPENDIX B 
 

 
 

The CFO will ensure an accurate record of daily notifications received and 
document all investment decisions. 
 

Public Sector Partnership Services Limited is responsible for the 
provision of: 

 
• treasury management strategy statements and practices for approval  
• regular treasury management policy reports 

• budget and budget variations 
• management information reports 

• adequate treasury management resources and skills, and effective 
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function, 

and; 
• arranging the appointment of external treasury management 

advisors.  

 
Where the use of particular instant access accounts, notice accounts and 

money market funds has been approved by the Section 151 Officer, PSPSL 
treasury officers have delegated authority to withdraw and deposit funds 
within the agreed limits contained in this strategy. 

 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

REPORT TO: Audit and Governance Committee 

DATE: 30th January 2023 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Budget Overview 2023/24 and Draft Budget 

 

To provide an overview of the draft budget for 2023/24 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Jonathan Noble 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive Corporate Development 

Steven Houchin, Chief Finance Officer- Public Sector Partnership 

Services Ltd 

Samantha Knowles – Assistant Director – Finance 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out the draft budget at Appendix A including the areas of pressure that will be 

considered as part of this year’s budget setting process, the details of the Councils Provisional 

Funding Settlement and the proposed level of Council Tax for 2023/24.   

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Audit and Governance Committee considers this report and provides feedback for 

Cabinet’s consideration at its February meeting. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To comply with the budgetary and policy framework. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

It is a requirement of the constitution for the committee to be consulted. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1.  This year’s budget is being set within a background of unprecedented inflationary 

pressures and significant changes in resident, customer and business needs. Despite these 

challenges the Councils financial position means that it is well placed and able to take a 

considered approach to mitigating these exceptional challenges. In addition the Council 

has been and continues to be successful in drawing in significant capital and revenue 

investment for the area. 

 

1.2. Due to the complex financial environment specific elements of the budget at Appendix A 

are still being finalised as certain budgets are reviewed with the latest information 

available. 

 

2. Key Budget Pressures 

 

2.1. Identified below are major changes and key pressures that are being included within the 
proposed budget: 
 

• A pay award for 2022/23 was agreed in November 2022 averaging 5% across the pay 
spine. For 2023/24 a 5% award has been assumed, this allowance will be held 
corporately and adjusted to any savings target should it be settled at a lower level. 
This is one of the most significant impacts in the budget.  

• Pension contributions will be 23.6% in 2023/24 with an additional lump sum amount 
payable towards the deficit on the pension scheme. This rate is applied only to those 
staff in the local government pension scheme. The pension contribution rate is 
assumed to stay at 23.6% throughout the life of the MTFS. The lump sum towards the 
deficit is confirmed for 2023/24.    

• The return on cash investment reflects recent increases to Bank of England base rates 
which has increased significantly from the recent historic low levels. A further 
meeting of the MPC is on Thursday 2nd February. 

• Electricity and gas costs have been inflated for 2023/24 as a result of increased 
wholesale prices.  

• Vehicle fuel costs have also experienced inflationary pressures. 

• Increased contract costs are similarly a feature of the budget albeit officers and 
members are working closely to seek to manage these implications and impacts. 

 
3. Council Tax & Business Rates 

 
3.1. The previous Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) committed to a Council Tax increase 

in line with the maximum allowed under the recent Local Government Settlement, for BBC 

in 2023/24 this is a £6.03 increase (3%) and will generate a yield of £167,491. The increase 

is reflected through the life of the MTFS.   

 

3.2. The tax base projections for 2023/24 indicate growth of 223 band D equivalent properties.  

Future growth has been projected at 1.50%.   

 

 

 Page 98



3.3. Business Rates 

 

3.4. Business rates information is still being reviewed as a result of a number of changes including 

the inflation measure used to increase the local government funding amount within the 

Settlement Funding Amount using the CPI September indicator 10.1% instead of the RPI 

September Indicator (12.6%).  

 

3.5. The National Non-Domestic Rates Form (NNDR1) production is now particularly important 

in terms of changes to the business rate yield which heavily influences not just our own 

budgets but also the Pool we are part of within Lincolnshire and significantly the County 

Council. This is an area of significant focus as we seek to understand the changes within 

the yield particularly as a result of Covid and changes as result of the Business rate 

revaluation 2023. 

 

4. Local Government Settlement 

 

4.1. The provisional local government settlement delivered on 19th December 2022 provided 

the following support: 

 

 

4.2. The 2023-24 local government finance settlement is for one year only and is based on the 

Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels, updated for the 2022 Autumn Statement 

announcements.  The main points are set out below: 

 

• The Funding Guarantee replaces the Lower Tier Services Grant.  This grant is intended to 

provide a funding floor for all local authorities, so that no local authority would see an 

increase in Core Spending Power that is lower than 3%, before any decisions about 

organisational efficiencies, use of reserves or council tax levels are taken. 

• Revenue Support Grant has been increased in line with what would have been the increase 

to the multiplier; there have also been existing grants rolled into the RSG amounts. 

Local Government Provisional 
Settlement Information 

Boston Borough Council 

2022/23 Budget 
2023/24 Provisional 

Settlement 
Difference 22/23 - 23/24 

 
  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Revenue Support Grant 323 433 110  

Rural Services Delivery grant 89 89 0  

Lower Tier Services Grant 124 0 -124  

Service Grant 186 105 -81  

Sub Total 722 627 -95  

Funding Guarantee (3%) 0 472 472  

Sub Total 722 1099 377  

New Home Bonus 697 288 -409  

Total Funding 1,419 1,387 -32  

Page 99



• Local Government Funding Reform – As per the published Policy Statement, the Review of 

Relative Needs and Resources (‘Fair Funding Review’) and a reset of Business Rates growth 

will not be implemented in the next two years. 

 

5. Internal Drainage Boards 

 

5.1 Internal Drainage Board (IDB) levy increases are still being finalised and are expected to be 

very substantial increases on previous years due to the extensive use of power and fuel for 

the activities that these organisations undertake.  The 2022/23 cost is £2.15m and a series 

of increases have been indicated from 9% to 20%.  

5.2 The Council is liaising with the local Internal Drainage Boards who have been trying to limit 

future increases where possible but proving impossible with the increases in power costs 

being experienced. Significant representations have been and continue to be made to 

government due to the substantial loss of income to the Council, as this was previously 

funded through Revenue Support Grant (RSG). This embedded levy can no longer be 

afforded having a significant impact every year that passes on the ability of the Council to 

finance the services it is providing and putting it at a disadvantage to the majority of the 

Councils in England, with only a handful of councils impacted upon in this way. 

5.3 The Council has been in detailed discussion with government officers regarding this position 

over the past year. We are also aware that the IDB’s have made extensive representations 

to DEFRA and via ADA of this significant issue. A formal opportunity to engage with 

Government on this matter has now been offered and officers are in the process of seeking 

to arrange this meeting as a matter of priority between Leaders, MPs and the relevant 

minister.  

Council Total Council 
Tax 
Received per 
year 22/23 

Total IDB levy 
per year 
22/23 

Proposed 
increase 23/24 

Council 
Tax 22/23 
Increase 
3%/£5 
raises 

Boston 
Borough 
Council 

 
£4.1m 

 
£2.1m 

 
£233k 

 
£167k 

 

 

6. BALANCING THE BUDGET 

 

6.1 In terms of balancing the budget the following areas have been identified as key areas to be 

considered as part of the final budget setting: 

 

Short Term 

• The potential use of reserves to support one off pressures and for invest to save 

initiatives; 

• Use of the New Homes Bonus to support the revenue account whilst medium term 

activity is actioned; 

• Continued work to engage on the Internal Drainage Board financing challenge; 
Page 100



• Review of all new pressures and service budgets to consider efficiency opportunities 

and alternative options. 

Medium Term 

• Work with PSPS in terms of its transformation plans for the future; 

• Driving transformational change using the SELCP sub-regional partnership as a driver for 

innovation and efficiency. 

• Reviewing all assets to maximise income and efficiency of use. 

• Delivering and supporting economic growth  

• Reviews of fees and charges in light of inflationary increases in costs, where 

appropriate; 

 

6.2 Detailed efficiency and transformation plans are being put together for members 

consideration as part of this budget setting process. 

 

7. CONCLUSION  

 

7.1. Extensive work is underway to finalise the budget working with our key Partner in the 

provision of this service PSPS Ltd. 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

 
This report enables Boston Borough Council to set a budget and a level of Council Tax for 2023/24. 
 
IMPLICATIONS: 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

NONE 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

NONE 

STAFFING 

The Equality Act requires SHDC to consider any equality impacts in relation to staff from these 

plans. As projects within the programme are developed a draft impact assessment will be 

discussed with Trades Unions and staff, and especially as individual projects are delivered. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

This report is required by virtue of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended by the 

Localism Act 2011.  

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

 Page 101



FINANCIAL 

None 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

Done 
 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

The Council has a legal duty to consult residents on its draft budget proposals. Views expressed 

during the consultation period will be included within the financial budget setting report.  

REPUTATION 

None 

CONTRACTS 

None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

New Equality Impact Assessments will be developed and published wherever these are required 

and will be made available during the management and decision-making of the Programme. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Cabinet 17th January 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director Finance  

sknowles@sholland.gov.uk 

Page 102

mailto:sknowles@sholland.gov.uk


Steven Houchin, Chief Finance Officer, Public Sector 

Partnership Services Ltd 

Steven.Houchin@PSPSL.co.uk  

Signed off by: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive 

Corporate Development 

Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Finance Portfolio Holder  

 

Page 103

mailto:Steven.Houchin@PSPSL.co.uk
mailto:Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

REPORT OF JONATHAN NOBLE, FINANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER  
 

(Authors: Christine Marshall (Deputy Chief Executive Corporate Development) and Samantha 
Knowles (Assistant Director - Finance)) 

 
DRAFT BUDGET SETTING REPORT AND ASSOCIATED FINANCIAL STRATEGIES - 2023/24-2027/28 – 

FOR CONSULTATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 105



Page 2 of 27 

 

FOREWORD TO THE BUDGET FROM COUNCILLOR JONATHAN NOBLE - FINANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER  
 

The creation of next year’s budget has been most challenging.  It has been set within a background of unprecedented inflationary pressures and 
significant changes in resident, customer and business needs. Despite these challenges, the Councils financial position means that it is well placed 
and able to take a considered approach to mitigating these exceptional challenges. 
 
The Government has provided a one-year settlement which has taken some uncertainty away regarding certain grants, however, the uncertainty 
remains significant and into the medium-term. 
 
Boston Borough Council remains sovereign in terms of its constitution and budget, as do the Councils we partner with, and our BBC priorities are 
to ensure that the Council remains financially resilient, able to deliver services it has to by law, and to provide support to the District’s most 
vulnerable residents. Secondly, to continue the process of redressing the imbalances created by the COVID-19 pandemic by appropriately 
focussing on the provision of financial support to underpin economic recovery for the District and seeking to invest in our places. 
 
Despite the challenges of the pandemic over the past few years, work to develop new opportunities, efficiencies and income streams to support 
the Council’s revenue budget have continued. 
 
A significant element of the Council’s budget is the Drainage Board Levy. Like the Council, the drainage boards are also experiencing increased 
cost demands.  The Council is liaising with the Boards, who are attempting to limit future increases, where possible.  This is proving increasingly 
difficult with significant increases in power costs being experienced. Representations to government have been made and continue to be made 
due to the substantial loss of income to the Council (as the levy was previously funded through Revenue Support Grant (RSG) but this is no longer 
the case). 
 
Another key component of the council’s budget is its share of business rates income which is currently being reviewed and will be updated before 
the budget is finalised.  In addition, inflationary pressures have been seen across all areas of the council’s budget, particularly pay, contracts, 
utilities and fuel. 
 
The proposed council tax increase for 2023/24 is an annual increase of £6.03 for a band D property.  
 
A series of short and medium term mitigations have been identified to balance the budget and these will be detailed further once the final budget 
for 2023/24 is produced. 
 
 
The Council’s revenue budget already provides for some annual contributions towards capital investment and we are delivering on our commitment 
to increase these by operating in a more commercial and business-like way to increase our ability to generate future capital receipts. 
 

P
age 106



Page 3 of 27 

 

The Council has maintained a capital resource base commensurate with our capital delivery ambitions. 
 
The Budget for 2023/24 proposes: 
 

• A Council Tax increase of £6.03 per year (for Band D homes this is equivalent to 11p per week). 

• To continue with the generation of additional efficiencies, shared services and income from commercial activities guided by our Delivery 

Plans. 

• Increased capital investment in Council assets to help generate new income streams, reduce running costs and help deliver services more 

efficiently.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTENTS PAGE 
 

 

P
age 107



Page 4 of 27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TABLES:-                  PAGE 
 
1. Assumptions Which Influence The 5 Year Financial Strategy        8 
2. Business Rates              11 
3. Council Tax              12 
4.  Precepting Authority Band D Charges          13 
5.  Revenue Support Grant And Other Government Grants       14 
6.  New Homes Bonus             15 
7.  Fees, Charges And Rental Income          16 
8.  Other Income             17 
9.  All Sources Of Income            18 
10.  Spending Plans             19 
11.  Budget Requirement            21 
12. Year Capital Programme, Funding And Resource Implication       24 
13. Treasury Assumptions            27 
14.  Savings Target             33 
15.  Key Risks              35 

SECTION CONTENT PAGE NUMBER 
 Portfolio Holder introduction 3 
1 Executive Summary and Introduction 5 
2 Budget Assumptions 7 
3 Resources 9 
4 Spending Plans 18 
5 Council Tax Requirement 20 
6 Other Budget Issues 21 
7 Reserves 22 
8 Consultation 24 
9 
10 

Savings Targets 
South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership Plans 

25 
26 

11 Risk and Sensitivity 27 
12 Capital Programme 29 
13 Options 31 
14 Reasons for Recommendations 31 
15 Recommendations 31 

P
age 108



Page 5 of 27 

 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
 

 2022/23 2023/24 

Boston Borough Council Precept £4.068m £4.235m 

Council Tax Increase 2.50% 2.97% 

Council Tax Band D £202.86 £208.89 

Government Funding £1.416m £1.387m 

Retained Business Rates used to support budget £0.769m £4.208m 

Boston Town Area Committee Special Expense Account 
(3.95% increase proposed) 

£0.733m £0.764m 

Earmarked Reserves (at 1 April) £18.348m £10.283m 

 
   

 
  
 

P
age 109



Page 6 of 27 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This appendix sets out the draft combined 2023/24 budget estimates and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the period 2023/24 
to 2027/28 for the Council’s General Fund. The Medium Term Strategy sets out the current and forecast future costs of the Council and is 
linked to the Corporate Plan and Delivery Plan, which sets out the aims and ambitions of the Council... 

 
1.2 The MTFS establishes a set of financial policies and principles which aim to provide a sound basis for maintaining the financial integrity of 

the Council over the medium term.   
 
1.3 This Appendix sets out: 
 

• The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28. 
• The 2023/24 General Fund Revenue Budget & Financing. 
• The General Fund Reserves Position. 
• The General Fund Capital Programme and Financing. 
• Risks, key issues, sensitivity and monitoring. 
• Treasury management policy and investment strategy (to follow in final budget report). 

 
1.4 The unprecedented challenges faced by all of us in 2021/22, 2022/23 have continued into 2023/24, with significant inflationary pressures. 

The government settlement delivered in mid December for Boston included New Homes Bonus (£288k) and 3% funding guarantee (£472k).   
 
1.5 In 2023/24 a budget is proposed that allows expenditure to be financed through the use of reserves in order to smooth the impact of the 

council’s ongoing pressure, significant savings are required going forward as a result of increased inflationary costs and other cost pressures, 
including substantial pressure from the IDB levy. This means that the Council can continue to provide services whilst also supporting its 
overall objectives. The Council will continue to strive to be as efficient as possible in all its work, building on the South and East Lincolnshire 
Council’s Partnership with its partners at East Lindsey District Council, South Holland District Council and PSPS, whilst ensuring it maximises 
the income it receives  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 110



Page 7 of 27 

 

2. BUDGET ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 Table 1 – Assumptions which influence the five year financial strategy 
 

Assumption 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Budgeted inflation1 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Pay costs increase 2 2% 5% 2% 2% 2% 2% 

Full Time Equivalent Employees 3 234.99 244.71 242.60 235.74 230.74 230.74 

Staffing levels4 99% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 

Pension contribution rate – current 
service cost 5 

17.7% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6% 

Pension contribution cash amount 
to fund deficit on scheme 5 

£745,000 £687,000 £713,000 £741,000 £741,000 £741,000 

Return on cash investments6 0.10% 3.90% 2.80% 2.10% 2.00% 2.30% 

Return on property funds 7  3.60% 3.10% 3.10% 3.10% 3.10% 3.10% 
Utility cost rises 8 30% 150% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Fuel cost rises9 5% 25% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Tax base 10 2.2% 1.1% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 

 
Notes to Assumptions 
These assumptions reflect, where known, future changes which may arise from the implementation of the council’s organisational development 
plans including the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership with South Holland District Council and East Lindsey District Council (see 
Section 7). 

 
 

1. Although inflation does affect the price of supplies and services that the Council procures, because services are given cash limited 
budgets they have to absorb the cost of inflation within the resources they have – as such the net impact of inflation is reduced to zero 
within the estimates. The only exceptions are those contracts which have an agreed inflationary arrangement built into them, we expect 
that contract costs will substantially increase on renew. 

2. The nationally agreed pay award ended on 31st March 2022. An award for 2022/23 was agreed November 2022 averaging 7% across 
the pay spine. For 2023/24 onwards a 5% award has been prudently assumed.  

3. Increase in FTE is as a result of Fixed Term contracts and transferred posts from previous shared arrangements? 
4. An annual General Fund saving in staff costs (£353k) is built into the budget (equivalent to 4% of the staff budget) due to anticipated 

staff vacancies during the year.  

P
age 111



Page 8 of 27 

 

5. Based on the Pension Triennial Valuation the pension contribution will be 23.8% in 2023/24 with an additional lump sum amount 
payable towards the deficit on the pension scheme – this rate is applied only to those staff in the local government pension scheme. A 
further review will take place which could change the amount from 2027/28 onwards. Any vacant posts are assumed to be within the 
pension scheme. The pension contribution rate is assumed to stay at 23.8% throughout the life of the MTFS. The lump sum towards 
the deficit is confirmed for 2023/24.   

6. These are the estimated returns on cash.  
7. These are the estimated returns on the Property Fund that the council holds. 
8. Utility costs have been inflated by 150% for 2023/24 as a result of increased wholesale prices. These will need to be kept under review, 

as it is an area that could be subject to future inflationary pressures.  
9. Vehicle fuel costs are predicted to increase by 25% due to national trends. 
10. The tax base projections for 2023/24 has provided for a growth of 223 band D equivalent properties. Future growth has been projected 

at 1.5% (see section 4.6 and Table 3).   
 

3. RESOURCES  
 
3.1 The following section of the Appendix outlines the resources that will be available to the Council under 6 headings, Business Rates, 

Council Tax, Revenue Support Grant and other Government Grants, New Homes Bonus, Fees and Charges and Other Income. 
 

3.2 On 19th December 2022 the Local Government Finance Settlement 2023/24 was delivered. The papers included a continuation of New 
Homes Bonus for 2023/24 and a new grant stream called Funding Guarantee, replacing the Lower Tier Service grant.  
 

3.3 As part of the policy statement it was confirmed there would be no review or business rates or funding formula for at least 2 years. 
 

3.4 As a result of this announcement it makes planning the years from 2025/26 onwards very difficult as many things could change because 
of these planned reviews and resets. As and when further announcements are made Members will be kept up to date accordingly and the 
financial impact assessed. 
 
 
 

4. SPENDING PLANS 
 
4.1 Under the current arrangements for retained Business Rates, where a Council collects rates above an assessed baseline level set by the 

Government, a 50% levy is applied that is paid to the Government. In order to avoid this 50% levy a business rates pool was adopted with 
the County Council and other districts within Lincolnshire. 

 

P
age 112



Page 9 of 27 

 

4.2 A revaluation exercise for business rates will take effect from 1 April 2023. The Council is expecting a number of appeals against the 
revaluation. A provision has been put aside based on intelligence from the Council’s advisors to hopefully cover any effects from this but 
there still remains a large amount of uncertainty in this area. 

 
4.3 Table 2 provides details of the anticipated business rates figures for 2022/23 and provisional figures for 2023/24 through to 2027/28.  

 

 
4.4 It is important that members note that the potential changes to the retention of Business Rates from 2023/24 presents a significant 

uncertainty around future funding levels. It is very likely that as part of the ongoing reassessment of Area Needs the Government may 
significantly change the current baseline levels. As such the current amount of retained business rates that the Council is experiencing 
could be significantly reduced under these new arrangements. 
 

 
Table 2 – Business Rates (Subject to Review) 
 

  

Budget Draft Draft Draft Draft Draft 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Retained Business Rates -7,427 -7,658 -7,811 -7,967 -8,127 -8,290 

S31 Grants relating to Business Rates -2,018 -2,645 -2,698 -2,752 -2,807 -2,863 

Tariff 5,141 5,247 5,352 5,459 5,568 5,679 

Pre– levy income -4,304 -5,056 -5,157 -5,260 -5,366 -5,474 

Renewable Energy (100% retained by 
Boston BC) 

-203 -189 -193 -197 -201 -205 

Levy payment to Lincolnshire Pool 237 298 304 310 316 323 

Estimated (Surplus)/Deficit) on 
Collection Fund 

3,501 739 - - - - 

Net Retained Business Rates Income -769 -4,208 -5,046 -5,147 -5,251 -5,356 

 
 

*The unusually high deficit is mainly as a result of retail reliefs granted to businesses because of the COVID-19 pandemic. These reliefs have been fully funded by the 
government and the income received in 2020/21 and 2021/22 therefore is covered by a reserve contribution shown in table 8. 

 

P
age 113



Page 10 of 27 

 

4.5 As well as the potential for the authority to attract additional income through retained business rates there is also the risk of uncertainty 
through a reduction in the amount of business rates that it collects, this has been further exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. This 
coupled with uncertainties relating to appeals against rateable values for business premises, with the potential for successful appeals 
being backdated makes estimating income accurately extremely challenging and potentially volatile. 
 

Council Tax 
 
4.6 The MTFS assumes a Council Tax increase in line with the maximum allowed under the Local Government Settlement. In the case of 

BBC for 2023/24 this is a £6.03 (2.97%) per annum increase (for band D properties). The increase is reflected through the life of the 
MTFS. See Table 3 below for the estimated changes in the tax base and council tax collected. 

 
 
 Table 3 – Council Tax 
   

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 
       

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

Council Tax base (Band D 
equivalents) 

20,051 20,274 20,578 20,887 21,200 21,518 

  
     

Council Tax Band D 202.86 208.89 213.84 218.79 223.74 228.69 

Annual Increase £ 4.95 6.03 4.95 4.95 4.95 4.95 

Annual Increase % 2.50% 2.97% 2.37% 2.31% 2.26% 2.21% 

Gross Council Tax collected  £4,067,546 £4,235,036 £4,400,423 £4,569,819 £4,743,307 £4,920,971 

In year Surplus / (deficit)  £86,654 -£28,346 £0 £0 £0 £0 

TOTAL £4,154,200 £4,206,690 £4,400,423 £4,569,819 £4,743,307 £4,920,971 

 
 
4.7 The tax base for 2023/24 has been increased by 1.11% and by 1.50% per annum thereafter. This is based on the latest projected house 

building trajectory. 
 
 
 

P
age 114



Page 11 of 27 

 

BTAC expenses 
 
 

  2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

 2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

 BTAC Expenses 733 764 762 784 808 808 

 
 
Table 4 – Precepting Authority Band D charges  
 

Authority Proposed Band D 
amount  

(£.p) 

Increase over 
2022/23 

£ 

Increase over 
2022/23 

% 

Lincolnshire County Council  TBC TBC TBC 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner  

TBC TBC TBC 

Boston BC £208.89 £6.03 2.97% 

Parishes (average)  TBC TBC TBC 

 
 
 
 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Section 31 Grants 
 
  
4.8 The table below currently builds in the assumption that RSG will continue throughout the MTFS period until such time as we have more 

information regarding the outcome of the fairer funding review. Other than S31 grants for Business Rates (see table 2) the other main non-

specific grants received by the Council relate to the Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) and the newly announced Funding Guarantee 

grant. RSDG for 2023/24 is proposed to be £89k and the Funding Guarantee grant is £472k for 2023/24, the future of this grant into the 

longer term is not known however it now incorporates the previous Lower Tier Grant.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 115



Page 12 of 27 

 

Table 5 - Revenue Support Grant and other Non-Specific S31 Government Grants 
 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Revenue Support Grant 323 433 433 433 433 433 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 89 89 89 89 89 89 

Lower Tier Services Grant 121 0 0 0 0 0 

Services Grant 2022/23 186 105 105 105 105 105 

Funding Guarantee (3%) 0 472 472 472 472 472 

Total Received 719 1,099 1,099 1,099 1,099 1,099 

Annual Change is resource (398) 377 0 0 0 0 

 
 
New Homes Bonus 
 
4.9 New Homes Bonus (NHB) allocations were announced as part of the Local Government Finance Settlement for 2023/24 only as far as we 

are aware. The government has added a year of additional grant, as previously announced, the 2021/22 “in year” allocations did not have 
future years legacy payments nor has the 2023/24 allocation. If the scheme was to be continued in its current form next years payment 
would reflect just the growth in the previous year. 
 
 

4.10 In light of current funding pressures and element of the New Homes Bonus is being used to support budgetary pressures (£288k).  
 
Table 6 – New Homes Bonus estimates  

 

   Draft Draft Draft Draft Draft Draft 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

New Homes Bonus (697) (288) - - - - 

 
 

P
age 116



Page 13 of 27 

 

Fees and Charges 
 
4.11 The Council is dependent on direct payment for many of its services in the form of various fees, charges and rents. Fees and charges play 

an important role in the effective delivery of services; they not only raise income but can control access to services, help the council 
respond to competition, fund investment and guide client behaviour.   

 
4.12 In some cases the levels of fees are set by the Government and the Council has no control over what is charged. Where the Council has 

had control it has not always increased these charges in line with inflation or other market conditions. Given future uncertainty around 
levels of government grant support and business rates income, the Council will have to develop policies for continually reviewing its fees 
and charges in order to maintain this income at current or higher levels. A review of fees and charges in light of inflationary pressures is 
currently underway. 

 
Table 7 – Fees and charges income budgets 
 

Budget Area 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Leisure income 918 820 820 820 820 820 

Building control 170 170 170 170 170 170 

Licensing 131 131 131 131 131 131 

Land charges 78 78 78 78 78 78 

Bereavement 900 934 934 934 934 934 

Garden Waste 628 644 739 739 739 739 

Trade waste 355 402 402 402 402 402 

Planning fees 633 645 652 655 655 655 

Parking 1019 1019 1019 1019 1019 1019 

Markets 95 95 95 95 95 95 

Other small areas 155 220 180 180 220 180 

TOTAL FEE INCOME 5,081 5,158 5,220 5,222 5,262 5,222 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 117



Page 14 of 27 

 

Other Income 
 
4.13 The Council also receives other forms of income, as shown in the following table. 
 
Table 8 – Other Income 
 
 

  2022/23* 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Interest on Investments 960 1597 1597 1597 1597 1597 

Housing Benefit Subsidy 11,618 11,210 11,210 11,210 11,210 11,210 

Housing Benefit/Universal Credit Overpayments 120 120 120 120 120 120 

Council tax and Housing benefit administration 
grant 

285 285 285 285 285 285 

Specific Government Grants 720 736 707 297 297 297 

Court Income & Council Tax Penalties 251 251 251 251 251 251 

Rental income 696 967 967 966 965 964 

NNDR admin grant 92 92 92 92 92 92 

Other Contributions (from external bodies for 
sharing of services and posts) 

1,392 1,522 1,527 1,543 1,565 1,588 

Other Income 1,250 1,241 1,241 1,201 1,201 1,201 

Use of Reserves 5,182 (15)  (210)   (304)   (304)   (113)  

Total Other Income 22,564  18,005  17,787  17,257  17,278  17,491  

 

• Use of Reserve values will change as and when new schemes are approved for inclusion within the programme. 
 

• Reductions in the Housing Benefit Subsidy income is due to a realignment of the budget to reflect current anticipated levels of 
activity – especially with the roll out of Universal Credit. There is a corresponding reduction in expenditure in section 4 below.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 118



Page 15 of 27 

 

Summary  
 

Table 9 – All sources of income  
 

 

 2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

 
Business Rates 

769 4,208 5,046 5,147 5,251 5,356 

  
Revenue Support Grant 

323 433 433 433 433 433 

Lower Tier Services Grant 121 - - - - - 

2022/23 Services Grant 186 105 105 105 105 105 

Funding Guarantee (3%) 0 472 472 472 472 472 

 
Rural Services Delivery Grant 

89 89 89 89 89 89 

 
New Homes Bonus 

697 288 - - - - 

 
Council Tax  

4,154 5,490 4,400 4,570 4,743 4,921 

 
Funding subtotal 

6,339 9,802 10,545 10,816 11,093 11,376 

 
Fees, Charges, Rents 

5,081 5,158 5,220 5,222 5,262 5,222 
 

 
Other Income 

22,564 18,005 17,787 17,257 17,278 17,491 
 

 
Fees, Charges & Other Income subtotal 

27,646 23,163 23,006 22,479 22,541 22,713 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 119



Page 16 of 27 

 

4. 2023/24 SPENDING PLANS 
 
4.14 Table 10 below shows the estimated Council spending plans for the next 5 years. It shows expenditure analysed by the CIPFA Standard 

classification. The paragraphs below the table provide explanations for the main variances across the MTFS.  
 

4.15 The table below summarises the main changes in expenditure budgets between 2022/23 and 2023/24. The ongoing delivery of the 

Council’s Efficiencies and Transformation Programme may introduce further changes in the year ahead and over the  Medium Term.   

 
 Table 10 – Spending Plans  
 
 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employees 9,768 10,595 11,214 11,230 11,432 11,689 

Premises 1,605 2,415 2,419 2,424 2,414 2,433 

Transport 335 406 400 401 403 404 

Supplies and Services 6,969 6,947 6,326 6,037 6,116 6,187 

Third Party Payments 159 164 164 164 164 164 

Drainage Board Levies  2,150 2,350 2,350 2,350 2,350 2,350 

Parish Councils’ Precepts 509 520 530 540 551 562 

Transfer Payments 11,618 11,210 11,210 11,210 11,210 11,210 

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 1,888 0 0 0 0 0 

Interest Payable on Borrowing 494 494 494 494 494 494 

Minimum Revenue Provision 15 15 15 15 15 15 

Gross Expenditure 35,511 35,114 35,122 34,864 35,148 35,507 

 
Employee costs have been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Pay Policy. Pay generally has been increased by salary increments due to 

staff, and by an estimated 5% increase in 2023/24 and 2% thereafter. Pension cost estimates have been prepared on the basis of current staff in 

the pension scheme at October 2022/23, and all vacant posts assumed to be within the pension scheme. There have been some staffing 

changes which are mainly grant funded as a result of successful bidding to government departments. The employee costs also include the latest 

results of the Pension Triennial Review. 

 

P
age 120



Page 17 of 27 

 

Premises budgets have increased in 2023/24. The main increase being the cost of utility wholesale increases in the price of gas and electricity. 

There has been an assumption of a 150% increase in the cost of utilities. 

 

Transport costs have increased from 2022/23 levels due to the 25% increase in Fuel and additional maintenance costs associated with the 

vehicle fleet.  

 

Supplies and Services budgets have increased slightly mainly due to increases in audit Fees, banking charges, agreed increases in council 

contracts in relation to RPI, additional inflationary costs in Environmental services and Homelessness. 

 

Internal Drainage Board (IDB) increases, in total average 10% for 2023/24. Post 2023/24 increases have been estimated at this time, with an 

increase of 0% p.a. assumed thereafter until further information has been provided by the Internal Drainage Boards. At a time of significant 

increases in rising energy cost it would be safe to assume that increases will be greater than in previous years. The Council is liaising with the 

local Internal Drainage Boards to work towards limiting future increases where possible. Lobbying of government is also underway with the 

impact of this loss of revenue to the Council due to the embedded levy having an impact every year that passes. 

 

Transfer Payments – There is a reduction to reflect the current estimated expenditure on benefits, there is a reduction in the budget for rent 

allowance payments (with an offsetting reduction in benefits income – see table 10 above)  

 
Capital Charges – Changes in capital charges relate to revisions to the capital programme between years which do not affect the General Fund 

bottom line as they funded from reserves. 

 
Third party payments - These budgets reflect payments to Public Sector Partnership Services and other outside bodies. 

 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 121



Page 18 of 27 

 

5. BUDGET REQUIREMENT 
 

5.1 The budget requirement is formed by comparing resource prediction and spending plans. 

 
Table 11 – Requirement Budget 
 

 2022/23 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2023/24 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2026/27 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

2027/28 
Estimate 

 
£’000 

Fees, Charges & Other Income 
(table 9) 

(27,646) (23,163) (23,006) (22,479) (22,541) (22,713) 

Gross Expenditure (table 10) 35,511 35,114 35,122 34,864 35,148 35,507 

Efficiency Target (282) (866) (278) (244) (155) (47) 

Net Budget 7,582 11,085 11,837 12,141 12,452 12,746 

 Funded By             

Retained Business rates (769) (4,208) (5,046) (5,147) (5,251) (5,356) 

Revenue Support Grant (323) (433) (433) (433) (433) (433) 

Lower Tier Services Grant (121) 0 0 0 0 0 

2022/23 Service Grant (186) (105) (105) (105) (105) (105) 

Funding Guarantee (3%) 0 (472) (472) (472) (472) (472) 

Rural Services Delivery Grant (89) (89) (89) (89) (89) (89) 

New Homes Bonus (697) (288) 0 0 0 0 

BTAC (733) (764) (762) (784) (808) (808) 

Parish Precepts (509) (520) (530) (540) (551) (562) 

Council Tax (4,154) (4,207) (4,400) (4,570) (4,743) (4,921) 

Total Funding (7,582) (11,085) (11,837) (12,141) (12,452) (12,746) 

 
 
5.2 Based on current assumptions the Council has a significant efficiency target for 2023/24 which plans are already underway to address. With 

uncertainty around Business Rates after 2023/24 as mentioned earlier it is very unclear at this stage what the financial impact will be.  
 
 
 

P
age 122



Page 19 of 27 

 

5.3 Boston Area Town Committee 

 
5.3.1.1 Boston Town Area Committee (BTAC) special expenses are a separate charge to the residents of Boston for services provided in their 

town and are charged as a supplement to the main council tax. The BTAC budget for 2023/24 is estimated at £763,636 (2022/23 - 

£732,864). 

  

6. OTHER BUDGET ISSUES 
 

In order to meet its obligations, equality impact assessments will be carried out when the nature of proposed changes to services and the 
potential mitigation (if any) is clear, so that the implications of decisions are fully understood as they affect specific groups and communities. 
These have been, and will continue to be, regularly undertaken and considered as part of the decision making process.  

 
  
7. RESERVES  
 
7.1 In order to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the Authority must undertake a review of the level of reserves 

as part of annual budget preparation. A review of the reserves has been undertaken to make sure that they have a defined purpose, identified 
and approved values for additions to and usage of each reserve, and that they are set at an appropriate value which identifies the current 
and future requirements and risks the Council might face. This has included  an assessment of risk registers, pressures upon services, 
inflation and interest rates and any underwriting arrangements. The proposed budget has been developed on the basis of not requiring any 
long term support from reserves for the revenue budget 

 
General Reserves 
 

The General Fund balance is estimated to stand at £2.0m for the next five years, which the Council’s Section 151 Officer believes to be 
prudent for the Council at this time. 

 
Specific Reserves 
 

Specific reserves are set up to provide funds for known future commitments or provide resources for unexpected events. Given the risks 
and uncertainties facing both the local and national economy the Council is committed to retaining robust levels of reserves, whilst ensuring 
resources are available to enable efficient service delivery.  
 
 
 

P
age 123



Page 20 of 27 

 

  2023/24    2023/24 

  £’000    £’000 

Contribution To Reserves    Contribution From Reserves   

         

Capital Funding Reserve    Capital Funding Reserve   

Revenue contribution     ICT Alliance  100 

Bereavement fee increase 
payback 

-12 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision  15 

RHI Investment payback  -124  Transformation Reserve:   

Cont to replacement freighter  -8  Planning Assistant  20 

Fleet payback  -200  Crowd Funding Annual cost 11 

Transformation Reserve:    Env Services project staffing 5 

PSPS Contract Smoothing  0 

 

Community Leadership - project 
manager role extended to 31.08.2023. 
Funded from EHCP underspend  

128 

Repairs and Renewals Reserve:     District Council Elections 27.28 22 

CCTV R&R -35  Housing Reserve   

     DASH Subscription  2.5 

Contribution To Reserves Total -379  Platform Housing  0 

 

  

Health and Accessible Homes Lincs 
Lead 

60 

  
 Funding Volatility Reserve   

  
 NNDR deficit    

  
     

  
 Contribution From Reserves Total 364 

  
 Net Contribution From / (to) Reserves -15 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 124



Page 21 of 27 

 

8. CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 

Capital programme to be finalised 
 
Table 17 – Treasury Assumptions  
 

Treasury Assumptions 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Average Investment Balances £30.8m £21.0m £18.4m £18.3m £18.2m 

Investment return assumptions – on 
non cash balances 

3.90% 2.80% 2.10% 2.00% 2.30% 

Investment assumptions – property 
fund return (revenue return only) 

3.10% 3.10% 3.10% 3.10% 3.10% 

External Borrowing £16.5m £16.5m £16.5m £16.5m £16.5m 

Average Borrowing Rate 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

  

8.1 These assumptions include: 
 

The Council’s available cash balances and investment returns will be influenced by the future development of the Council’s Asset Management 
Plan and all decisions made regarding the use of the Council’s Reserves for capital and revenue purposes. 
 
 
9.  CONSULTATION 
 

 
8.1 Under the Gunning Principles, the following points are the golden rules of consultation: 

• Proposals being consulted upon must be at a formative stage; 

• Proposals must contain enough information for the respondent to provide intelligent consideration; 

• Must give adequate time for a response; 

• Responses must be conscientiously taken into account. 
 
8.2 Using these principles, the budget consultation process for the 2023/24 budget comprised a number of elements. It was published on the 

Council’s website for consultation by all stakeholders, including the local business community. 
 

P
age 125



Page 22 of 27 

 

8.3 In addition to this the Council consulted through a number of Member forums including Cabinet and Scrutiny; and on the governance aspects 
of its preparation through the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
8.4 Following the budget consultation process, comments received through the Member forums, preceptors and the public exercise were taken 

into account in preparing and recommending the proposed budget for Cabinet review and formal Council approval on 22rd February and 
6th March 2023 respectively. 

 
            
 
 
 
 
 
 P

age 126



Page 23 of 27 

 

9. SAVINGS TARGETS 
 

9.1 The projected budgets recognise an increasingly challenging and uncertain position through the five year period of our financial strategy. A 
key factor is that the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and future finance reviews demand a significant transformation in the way public 
services are both paid for and provided, with an emphasis on business and housing growth to both improve economic development and 
maximise funding to the Council to help offset ongoing reductions in overall resources.  

 
9.2 Based upon current budget assumptions the value of efficiency savings required to set a balanced budget for the next five years are as 

follows: 
 

 
Table 14 – Savings Targets  
 

 2023/24* 
£000 

2024/25* 
£000 

2025/26* 
£000 

2026/27* 
£000 

2027/28* 
£000 

Budget Savings Requirement (£’000) – annual 866 278 244 155 47 

 
9.3 The ongoing delivery of a significant level of savings is recognised as a key challenge to the Council that will require both political and 

cultural direction to ensure it is met. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 127



Page 24 of 27 

 

10. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS’ PARTNERSHIP PLANS  

  

10.1 As we think of 2023/24 there is great uncertainty with the central funding which could be allocated to Boston. This is driven by several 
financial matters which remain unresolved such as the implications of the Fairer Funding Review, Business Rates baseline reset and a 
review of the Business Rates retention scheme. It should therefore be noted the Councils assumptions on future budget gaps whilst prudent 
could well be understated. 
 

10.2 The Council is taking a positive response to this uncertainty by seeking to influence those matters raised above through both engagement 
and lobbying to ensure a fair deal is delivered for rural communities. 

 
10.3 As we look forward into 2022/23 Cabinet will be promoting projects which aim to drive commercial opportunities, place the customer at the 

centre of everything we do and achieve as much as is possible through greater collaboration through the South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership. Some of these key projects to be developed during 2022/23 include; 

 

• Realising efficiencies working together with East Lindsey District Council and South Holland District Council through the South and 

East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

• Investment in infrastructure and facilities through the Towns Fund 

• A Council service modernisation programme through investment with PSPS and also in ICT 

• Investment in the Waste service 

• Building the case for investment in infrastructure 

• Empowering communities in the way services are provided 

• Commercialisation of services 

• Addressing Deprivation in the area 

• Tackling Climate Change through the Green Homes Initiative 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 128



Page 25 of 27 

 

11. RISK AND SENSITIVITY 
 
 
11.1 The following table shows the key risks and how we intend to treat them through our risk management practices 
 
11.2 Table 15 – Key Risks  

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigating Action 

Fairer Funding and Business Rate 
reset/changes 

High High To lobby as required 

Increased Interest Rates High High Market advice and forecasting for continuation 

Growth plans may require borrowing at 
some point in the future 

High High 
Continue to closely monitor and prioritise the Council's Capital 
Financing Requirement.  

Increased demand for Homelessness 
Support Services – relating to 
Homelessness Reduction Act 

High High 
Monitor service demand and impact on costs. Optimise use of grant 
funding and closely monitor impact. 

Lack of clarity for funding levels beyond 
22/23 and spending review 

High Medium 
Prudent budget set to provide best estimate. Transitional 
arrangements have been applied in similar previous changes 
imposed on funding arrangements. 

Fluctuation in business rates High High Growth plans and accurate monitoring 

Fair Funding Review could take into 
account actual levels of commercial 

Medium Medium Prudent budget set to provide best estimate.  

Pension fund deficit Medium Medium Close  links with LCC pension fund 

       

Additional bad debts as a result of 
economic circumstances 

Medium Medium 
The Council has pro-active debt management and pre-pay fee 
policies. 

P
age 129



Page 26 of 27 

 

Increased maintenance costs of ageing 
physical assets 

Medium Medium 
Asset management plan.  Pro-active rather than reactive 
maintenance programme 

Inflation rises by more than budgeted 
projections 

Medium Medium Budget assumptions kept up to date with most recent projections. 

Court Income High Low 
Court income projections are in line with budget. The budget has not 
been increased due to concerns over collectability of this income. A 
year-end review will be undertaken to inform future year’s budgets. 

PSPS may be unable to deliver an 
effective service within the agreed 
contract price. 

Low Medium 
Reviewing Service Level Agreements, activity levels and service 
priorities, develop a suitable Transformation Programme 

Fluctuation in business rates High High Growth plans and accurate monitoring 

Fee Income volatility High High Early monitoring of deviations 

Contract Cost volatility High High To seek to pre-purchase were necessary 

Lack of funding to partners causing 
displacement of service demand 

High High Engagement and realism 

Inadequate capital resources to finance 
future desired plans 

High High Proportionate spending and sale of surplus assets 

Central Government policy changes High High Engagement in consultation and policy creation 

Reductions in NHB impacting on future 
plans 

High High Lobbying and service transformation 

VAT – partial exemption High High Close forecasting VAT partial exemption position 

Failure to deliver the required 
transformation programme 

Medium High Effective programme and project management 

P
age 130



Page 27 of 27 

 

Reduction in Investment Values Medium Medium Regular Monitoring, allocation of specific Reserve 

Central Government policy changes High High Engagement in consultation and policy creation 

A poor settlement for rural councils Medium Medium Lobbying as a special interest group     

Increased demand for services in general Medium Medium A robust performance management framework 

 
  
 
13. OPTIONS 
 
13.1 There are no alternative budget options presented, however if Council does not accept the proposed budget then any changes to income 

or expenditure which will produce a revised balanced budget must be presented and approved at the Council meeting. 
 
14. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
14.1 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework. 
 
 
15. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
15.1 Recommendation – That Executive Board recommends to Council to approve the budget setting report 2023/24 and associated financial 

strategies 2023/24 to 2027/28 which includes the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy. 

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

A&G Work Programme 2022/23 

18th July  • Q4 Risk Report 2021/22 
(Suzanne Rolfe, Insight & Transformation Manager)  

• Internal Audits Annual Report 
(Matthew Waller, Internal Audit Manager)  

• Auditor’s Annual Report  
(Mark Surridge, Director – Public Services, Mazars) 

• Audit Strategy Memorandum 
(Mark Surridge, Director – Public Services, Mazars) 

• Annual Treasury Report  
(Sean Howsman – Interim Treasury Manager)  

19th September 
 

• Q1 Risk Report 2022/23 

     (Suzanne Rolfe, Insight & Transformation Manager) 

• Unaudited Financial Statements 2021/22  
(Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) PSPS)  

•  Update in terms of RIPA 2000 

(Alison Sparks, Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

• Combined Assurance 
(John Medler, Monitoring Officer) 

• Internal Audit Progress Report 
(Matthew Waller, Internal Audit Manager)  

• Q1 Treasury Report  
(Interim Treasury Manager)  

• External Auditors Progress Report  
(Mark Surridge, Director – Public Services, Mazars)  

• Monitoring Officer Update (verbal) 
(John Medler, Monitoring Officer)   

• Towns Fund Summary  
(Adrian Sibley, Deputy Chief Executive (Programme Delivery)  

7th November  
5th December  

• Contract Procedure Rules 
(Christine Marshall – Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer)  

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 7



 

 

• Treasury Management mid-year Report  
(Sean Howsam - Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPS )  

• Property Fund Update (EXEMPT)  
(Sean Howsam – Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPS)  

2023 

30th January  
  

• Q2 Risk Report 2022/23 
(Suzanne Rolfe, Insight & Transformation Manager) 

• Treasury Management Strategy Statement/ MRP & Annual Investment Strategy 
(Interim Treasury Manager)  

• Internal Audit Progress Report  
(Matthew Waller, Internal Audit Manager)  

• Monitoring Officer Update (verbal) 

• (John Medler, Monitoring Officer)   

• Audit Progress Report  
(Mark Surridge, Director – Public Services, Mazars)    

20th March  • Q3 Risk Report 2022/23 
(Suzanne Rolfe, Insight & Transformation Manager) 

• Q3 Treasury Report  
(Interim Treasury Manager  

• Draft Internal Audit Annual Plan 2022/23 
(Matthew Waller, Internal Audit Manager)  

• Audit Strategy Memorandum 2022/23 
(Mark Surridge, Director – Public Services, Mazars)  

• Financial Statements – Accounting Policies 
(Ellie Stacey – Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) PSPS)  

• Combined Assurance Report (Internal Audit)  
(Matt Waller/John Medler)  

• Audited Financial Statements 2021/22  
(Ellie Stacey – Deputy Head of Financial Services, PSPS)  

23rd May   

P
age 134


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	2 Q2 RISK REPORT 2022/23
	Appendix A BBC Q2 Strategic Risks

	3 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT
	4 AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT
	5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT/ MRP & ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
	Appendix A Treasury Management Policy Statement 2023-24
	Appendix B Treasury Management Strategy MRP Policy and AIP 2023-24

	6 BUDGET OVERVIEW 2023/24 AND DRAFT BUDGET
	Appendix A - Cabinet Budget Setting Report 2023.24 BBC - to Cabinet (DRAFT) SK Review 30.1.23 v1

	7 WORK PROGRAMME

